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First major investment made as  
part of the Company’s international 
geothermal strategy 

140MW of new geothermal capacity 
added with opening of Nga Awa Purua 
Power Station, a joint venture with the 
Tauhara North No.2 Trust

Geothermal generation 27 percent  
of total production

Resource consents granted for 
Ngatamariki Geothermal Power Station 

Hydro volumes significantly lower  
than the prior year, after severe 
Waikato drought

Retail customers increased by 30,000  
to reach a total of 412,000

91 percent of energy generated  
from renewable sources

EBITDAF down 27 percent due  
to reduced hydro production and  
lower wholesale prices

Underlying earnings $139.6m, down 34 
percent on the exceptional prior year

 

Summary



 Mighty River Power Limited  Annual Report 2010 3

EBITDAF  
($m)

OPERATING  
CASH FLOW  
($m)

NPAT 
($m)

RETURN ON AvERAGE  
EqUITy EMPLOyED 
(%)

UNDERLyING  
EARNINGS** 
($m)

*  Information for years prior to the  
 Group's transition date of 1 July   
 2006 to NZ IFRS have been prepared  
 under existing NZ FRS and   
 have not been translated to  
 NZ IFRS amounts

**  Before fair value movement in   
 financial instruments and before  
 significant one-off items
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Placeholder? 
(New Nga Awa Purua Photo)
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Contact Us
We welcome your feedback. Please contact  
one of our offices or send your questions or 
feedback to enquiries@mightyriver.co.nz
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Introduction 
2010 was a year of delivery for Mighty 
River Power. It was a year in which 
we achieved a number of important 
milestones; milestones that the 
Company has been steadily working 
towards over much of the past decade. 

We made our first significant 
offshore investment, with our 
international partner GeoGlobal Energy 
(GGE) acquiring a stake in US-based 
geothermal company EnergySource.  
In Chile, GGE secured four exploration 
permits and was granted an extraction 
permit at Tolhuaca, in the south of 
the country. Mighty River Power is 
currently the sole and cornerstone 
investor in the GGE Fund and we 
have a minority shareholding in 
GGE. Through our international 

geothermal programme we invest 
informed capital into offshore 
geothermal developments, which has 
the potential to produce a significant 
return for our shareholder. 

In New Zealand, the 140MW Nga 
Awa Purua Geothermal Power Station 
was opened on the Rotokawa field near 
Taupo. Nga Awa Purua, a joint venture 
with the Tauhara North No.2 Trust, 
is the biggest plant of its type in the 
world and generates enough electricity 
to power 140,000 homes. Over the past 
two years we have added 240MW of 
geothermal capacity to our portfolio 
and we were recently granted resource 
consents for a new geothermal 
development on the Ngatamariki field.

Our retail business continued on 
its strong growth path, increasing 

customer numbers by 30,000 to reach 
a total of 412,000. Having achieved the 
growth target we set two years ago in 
order to reflect our generation capacity 
growth, we will now look to maintain 
our retail market share in 2011, in what 
is a very competitive environment. 

We have led the industry in retail 
and generation growth and, as a result, 
our business is of a different scale to 
what it was five years ago. To prepare 
for the next phase of our evolution, 
we recently made some structural 
changes to the Company’s Executive 
Management Team, which we believe 
will further streamline the business 
and allow us to focus on those 
activities that create the greatest value.

Performance
Mighty River Power achieved a  
strong financial result in the year  
to 30 June 2010, despite the Waikato 
region experiencing an extended  
period of drought. 
 The addition of Nga Awa Purua 
saw geothermal generation increase 
significantly on the same period 
last year, to make up 27 percent of 
our total generation. However, the 
Waikato drought – which brought with 
it the second driest autumn for 80 
years – did have an impact and hydro 
volumes were 3,730GWh, down 14 
percent on the prior period. Energy 
margin, which is sales (wholesale 
and retail) less line charges, energy 
costs and other direct costs, was 
down $55.2m (9.4 percent) to $534.7m. 
This significant drop was due to the 
reduced hydro production combined 
with low wholesale electricity prices, 
which averaged $63/MWh compared 
to $67/MWh in the previous year. 

Operating expenses were $229.7m, 
up $46.2m on the prior period. The 
costs associated with maintenance 
work at the Company’s Southdown 
and Kawerau power stations were 
the major contributors to this rise. 

The reduced energy margin and 
higher operating expenses combined 

    12 months to 12 months to 

    30 June 2010 30 June 2009 

Electricity Customers 412,000 382,000

Sales

 Residential FPVV 2,612 2,355

 Commercial FPVV 2,245 1,961

 Spot 2,105 1,919

 Net CFD 1,247 1,542

 Weighted Average Price FPVV ($/MWh)  103 100

Purchases

 Total NZEM (GWh) 7,307 6,609

 Weighted Average Cost ($/MWh) 61 64

Generation  

 Hydro (GWh) 3,730 4,350

 Geothermal (GWh) 1,562 1,303

 Co-generation (GWh) 504 444

 Biomass (GWh) 16 32

 Total (GWh) 5,812 6,129

 Weighted Average Price ($/MWh) 63 67

FPVV: Fixed Price Variable Volume

Chair and Chief Executive’s Report

Operating Information
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to produce a 27 percent drop in 
EBITDAF, which was $327.8m. 

Underlying earnings were $139.6m, 
down 34 percent on the previous 
financial year, with net profit after tax 
(NPAT) at $84.6m. NPAT was impacted 
by movements in the fair value of 
derivatives and impairment charges – 
as detailed in the table below. For the 
first time this year the fair value of the 
Tuaropaki Power Company Foundation 
Hedge contract was recognised, 
following its reactivation after a long 
period of suspension. As the Tuaropaki 
Power Company is an associated entity, 
the Group recognises a net 75 percent 
of the fair value of this contract. This 
contract is not hedge accounted so the 
fair value movement was recognised 
in the income statement. Mighty River 
Power doesn’t hedge account for 
interest rate derivatives either, and 
consequently fair value movements  
on these contracts have also been 
recognised through the income 
statement. This applies to both 
domestic interest rate derivatives 
and the interest rate derivatives put 
in place by EnergySource for the 
Hudson Ranch I power project.

The Company also recognised 
$31.4m in impairments – most of 
which was due to upstream gas 
exploration, with the mechanical well 
failure at Kawerau also having an 
impact. The removal of depreciation 
on buildings and legislative tax rate 
changes also affected profit.

 
Emissions Trading Scheme
Like all energy producers, Mighty 
River Power is now affected by the 
Emissions Trading Scheme (ETS). 
The ETS has a whole-of-market 
effect, as there is no means of 
distinguishing “green” electricity 
from electricity generated from fossil 
fuels. Forward-looking wholesale 
prices have therefore increased 
under the scheme, resulting in 
greater costs for electricity retailers. 
Mercury Energy has chosen to be 

transparent about passing this cost 
on to the consumer and implemented 
an average 3.3 percent price increase 
for all customers from 1 July 2010, 
when the ETS came into effect. 

Although Mighty River Power’s 
generation portfolio is more than 
90 percent renewable, our gas-fired 
Southdown Power Station – and to a 
lesser degree our geothermal plants – 
do produce greenhouse gas emissions, 
and so we will have a carbon liability 
to offset. To date, we have signed 
three carbon supply agreements with 
Taupo landowners. These agreements 
have the additional innovative benefit 
of reducing agricultural nutrient 
run-off into Lake Taupo. We have 
also initiated a tender process for 
securing further carbon credits, a first 

for carbon trading in New Zealand.
We support the long-term objective 

of the ETS, which is to transfer value 
from thermal to renewable generation, 
thereby making investment in 
renewables relatively more attractive. 
In the past five years Mighty River 
Power has invested more than  
$1 billion into geothermal development 
and we intend to continue this 
investment with further development 
of geothermal and other renewable 
sources. However, these projects will 
be more expensive than any of our 
geothermal developments constructed 
to date. As a result, their viability will 
depend on higher market prices than 
at present, and a policy framework – 
such as the ETS – that is supportive 
of investment in renewable fuels.

  Impact Net Impact

   ($000) ($000)

Net profit after tax  84,614

Change in fair value of financial instruments  

Electricity Derivatives

- TPC Foundation Contact (70,027) 

- Less Associate’s 25% share 17,534 (52,493) 

Interest Rate Derivatives

- Domestic 61,597

- International 21,337 82,934

Other Fair Value Movements  349 

Impairments  31,373 

Tax 

- Expense on Adjustments  (10,002)

- Impact of Legislative Changes  2,779

Underlying Earnings After Tax  139,554

Underlying Earnings
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Dividends
During the year we paid dividends 
of $286m to our shareholder. These 
included a final dividend of $79.8m and 
a special dividend of $150m – both for 
the 2009 financial year – and an interim 
dividend for the 2010 year of $56.2m. 
A final dividend for the 2010 year of 
$30.3m will be paid in September, in 
accordance with the policy set out in 
our Statement of Corporate Intent.

Financial position
We maintained our strong liquidity 
position with extra facilities negotiated 
during the financial year. At the end 
of the period, debt facilities totalled 
$1,050m, with $975m drawn. In the 
12 months to 30 June 2010, Mighty 
River Power negotiated an additional 
$400m of funding at very competitive 
rates. This included a $250m bank 
facility that expires in September 
2011 and $150m wholesale private 
placements with expiry dates of 
October 2016 and February 2020. 

Standard & Poor’s confirmed 
Mighty River Power’s BBB+ credit 
rating, but revised its outlook from 

stable to negative in May 2010. The 
negative outlook recognises that the 
Company is more highly geared than 
previously, and still has a significant 
development pipeline, with earnings 
contributions from these investments 
not expected for two to three years.

Strategy and outlook
Geothermal investments
Over the coming year, Mighty River 
Power will continue its significant 
investment in geothermal development 
and exploration, both domestically  
and offshore.

Our geothermal experience is now 
recognised around the world and 
this has opened up opportunities for 
us to make informed investments in 
international geothermal projects. 
Mighty River Power is the cornerstone 
and currently the sole capital investor 
in the GGE Fund and we have a minority 
shareholding in the GGE management 
company. In the past financial year 
we have increased our commitment 
to the GGE Fund to $US250 million 
and the Fund invested $US92 million 
to secure the 20 percent holding in 

EnergySource. GGE is focussed on 
building a portfolio of geothermal 
development interests allowing it 
to diversify risks across a number 
of markets and opportunities.

Our investment in offshore 
geothermal projects via the GGE 
Fund complements our geothermal 
development programme in New 
Zealand, where our activities continue 
apace. In May, together with our 
partners, we were granted resource 
consents for a power station on the 
Ngatamariki Field and we hope to begin 
construction of a plant in 2011. We are 
also exploring a number of greenfield 
opportunities on geothermal fields 
in the Taupo volcanic zone. Mighty 
River Power’s success in geothermal 
investment is evidence that securing 
access to geothermal resources does 
not require regulatory intervention. 
However, as these resources are 
finite, geothermal developments 
are better served by collaboration 
between parties in order to maximise 
sustainable production from each field.

Chair and Chief Executive’s Report
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Electricity Industry Bill 
Mighty River Power supports the 
objectives of the Electricity Industry  
Bill (EIB), which are to improve 
competition, constrain price increases, 
ensure security of supply, and reinforce 
effective, stream-lined governance. 

To further the goal of a more com-
petitive and liquid market, we have 
been working with the other four large 
generator-retailers to reform Energy-
Hedge, the electricity futures market.
During the year EnergyHedge entered 
into an agreement with a platform 
provider to further develop the New 
Zealand electricity futures and op-
tions market. The futures market will 
also be accessible to other merchant 
generators – who currently generate 
more than 3,000GWh per annum – as 
well as lines companies, independent 
retailers and large industrial users.

Hydro flexibility and reinvestment
Mighty River Power will continue 
to focus on preserving access to, 
and operational flexibility of, the 
Waikato River and Hydro System. We 
appreciate that water is a valuable 
and contested resource and are 
committed to operating the hydro 
system as efficiently as we can.

During the past year we began  
a major hydro asset maintenance  
and enhancement programme. 
This programme will involve a total 
investment of between $400m and 
$500m over the next decade to 
increase the long-term efficiency 
of our hydro assets, enabling the 
production of more electricity 
from the same volume of water.

Board changes
In October 2009, Joan Withers was 
appointed Chair of Mighty River Power 
and Trevor Janes was appointed 
Deputy Chair. We farewelled outgoing 
Chair, Carole Durbin, and Directors 
John Baird and Neil Ranford, all of 
whom made a significant contribution 
to the Company during their tenure. 
There were three new arrivals to the 
Board during the year. Dr Michael 
Allen and Jon Hartley joined us on 1 
November 2009 and Prue Flacks on  
1 May 2010. Sandy Maier, who has been 
a Director since 2002, was reappointed 
for a further term on 1 May 2010. Tania 
Simpson, who has been a Director 
since 2001 was also reappointed for 
a further term on 1 November 2009.

Acknowledgements
The Chair and Chief Executive would  
like to acknowledge the commitment 
and professionalism of the team 
at Mighty River Power, as well as 
the strong support of the Board 
and management, during what was 
a challenging yet rewarding year. 
These efforts were recognised at the 
inaugural Deloitte Energy Excellence 
Awards in September 2010, where 
Mighty River Power was named 
Overall Energy Company of the Year.

JOAN WITHErS 
Chair

DOUG HEffErNAN  
Chief Executive

Other generation investment activity
During the year we continued to 
progress our resource consent 
application for the Turitea wind farm 
near Palmerston North, for which we 
are awaiting a decision from the Board 
of Inquiry. We are also investigating 
a range of other wind opportunities 
throughout the country, as well as some 
potential small hydro developments. 

In August 2010 the Company 
decided to exit upstream gas activities. 
This decision is part of a move to focus 
on the core activities that will generate 
the most value for the business, and 
to achieve an appropriate balance 
of risk and return. The Company 
commenced upstream gas exploration 
in 2004 with the aim of growing and 
diversifying revenue streams. Since 
that time we have had considerable 
success in developing new, renewable 
sources of generation (in particular 
geothermal) and we no longer consider 
upstream gas  exploration to be an 
integral part of our business strategy.

retail growth
Mighty River Power’s retail businesses, 
Mercury Energy and Bosco Connect, 
continued to show strong growth over 
the year. Electricity retail market share 
increased to 21 percent as of 30 June 
2010, up from 19.7 percent at the same 
time in the prior year. This reflects a 
30,000 increase in customer numbers, 
which now stand at 412,000. This 
strong retail growth occurred in what 
has been the most competitive retail 
market since deregulation, with as 
many as 35,000 customers switching 
electricity provider in a single 
month. Having achieved our targeted 
portfolio growth, in the 2011 financial 
year we will look to maintain our 
market share at current levels while 
focussing on reducing operational 
expenditure and cost-to serve.
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Nga Awa Purua Geothermal  
Power Station, a joint venture 
with the Tauhara North No.2 
Trust, was opened near Taupo 
in May 2010. The project was 
completed ahead of schedule, 
under budget and with a greater 
capacity than originally planned.  
It houses the largest single shaft 
geothermal turbine in the world 
and with a capacity of 140MW it 
will produce enough electricity to 
power 140,000 households.

The success of Nga Awa Purua 
was recently recognised at 
the inaugural Deloitte Energy 
Excellence Awards, where it was 
named Energy Project of the Year.
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Company Overview

International Geothermal Investment 

Through our investment in GeoGlobal 
Energy LLC (GGE), Mighty River Power 
made significant advances in its 
international geothermal programme 
during the 2010 year. Mighty River 
Power’s participation in GGE is one of 
an informed capital partner, providing 
investment funds supported by our 
in-depth knowledge and experience 
of the exploration, development and 
operational phases of geothermal 
generation. The majority of the GGE 
Fund investments to date have been 
in Chile and the United States.

In May 2010 we reported that GGE 
had secured a 20 percent investment 
in US-based geothermal company 
EnergySource. EnergySource is 
building the 49.9MW Hudson Ranch 
I Geothermal Power Station in the 
Salton Sea area of California’s Imperial 
Valley – one of the largest and hottest 
geothermal resources in the United 
States. GGE’s investment of $US92m 
will provide most of the equity for this 
project. Mighty River Power’s New 
Zealand geothermal experience was 

instrumental in forging the partnership 
with EnergySource, as the project will 
be using technology almost identical to 
that used in the Kawerau and Nga Awa 
Purua Geothermal Power Stations. 

GGE has also had considerable 
success in Chile, securing an 
extraction permit for the proposed 
Tolhuaca Geothermal Power Station 
during the year. This followed further 
exploration in May 2010, which 
showed the resource to be more 
significant than previously modelled. 
We expect big bore well drilling 
(a precursor to full development) 
to commence this summer.

GGE has also secured exploration 
permits for Puchuldiza and Alitar in 
northern Chile, and Colimapu and 
Ranquil in the central and southern 
parts of the country. We expect drilling 
to begin on the Puchuldiza field in 
late 2011. The Alitar and Colimapu 
concessions are held in conjunction 
with Colbun, a major Chilean  
electricity generator.

B CHILE

Tolhuaca

Ranquil

aliTaR

colimapu

puchuldiza

A U.S.A.

hudson Ranch i
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Geothermal development
In May we announced that – together 
with the Tauhara North No.2 Trust –  
we had secured resource consents for 
the construction and operation of a 
geothermal plant on the Ngatamariki 
field. Groundwork on the project is 
expected to start in 2011, and our 
target is for the power station to be 
complete and supplying energy into 
the national grid ahead of winter 2013.

Wind development
We are currently awaiting a decision 
from the Board of Inquiry considering 
our application for resource consents 
for a wind farm in and around the 
Turitea Reserve, east of Palmerston 
North. In response to matters 
raised through the Turitea Board 
of Inquiry hearing by members of 
the local community, we scaled our 
development plans back by 21 turbines 
and relocated 44 proposed turbine 
sites into less prominent locations.

In June we announced that we are 
negotiating changes to our involvement 
in the Long Gully project, which was 
consented by Windflow Technology 
Limited. The original agreement was 
for Windflow Technology to consent 
and construct the Long Gully wind 
farm, located west of Wellington, 
on behalf of Mighty River Power. We 
have reassessed where the project 
fits strategically into our mix of 
generation projects and believe that 
the nature of our involvement in the 
project should take a different form. 
We are currently in discussions 
with Windflow Technology as to 
what that involvement might be.

Development

C

1
2

3

4

NEW ZEALAND

5

1  mokai*
2  RoTokawa
3  kaweRau
4  nga awa puRua*
5  ngaTamaRiki

 * Mighty River Power does not  
 own 100% of these assets and/or  
 the physical output
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Geothermal generation
Our geothermal operations business 
has grown rapidly over the past 
six years, with the last two years 
showing particularly significant 
growth. The opening of the Nga Awa 
Purua Geothermal Power Station 
– a joint venture with the Tauhara 
North No.2 Trust – represented a big 
step forward. Nga Awa Purua was 
completed ahead of schedule, under 
budget, and with a greater capacity 
than originally anticipated. It houses 
the largest single shaft geothermal 
turbine in the world, and with a 
capacity of 140MW it will produce 
enough electricity to power 140,000 
households. This project was recently 
recognised at the Deloitte Energy 
Excellence Awards where it was 
awarded Energy Project of the Year.

Challenges at our Kawerau plant 
prevented us from capturing all 
of the extra capacity we secured 
on commissioning the station in 
2008, with the station operating 
at a capacity of 90MW for much 
of the 2010 financial year. These 
challenges related to the steamfield, 
where a combination of mechanical 
well failure and difficulties with the 
chemistry of the reservoir restricted 
injection capacity. Steps have been 
taken to address these issues and 
we anticipate an improvement in the 
performance of the steamfield over 
the course of the 2011 financial year.

In the past financial year we 
consolidated our geothermal 
operations in Rotorua. The new 
Rotorua office houses approximately 
60 staff, with room to accommodate 
future planned growth.

Hydro generation
An extended period of drought from 
November 2009 – including the second 
driest autumn in 80 years – depleted 
Lake Taupo storage, which dropped 
to within 7cm of the bottom of our 
operating range. This contrasted 
sharply with the previous year’s record 
inflows, reducing hydro production to 
3,730GWh compared to 4,350GWh in 
the 2009 financial year. As highlighted 
in last year’s Annual Report, 2009 
was exceptional for the coincidence 
of record Waikato inflows, reduced 
South Island storage and high spot 
prices. In 2010 we had the opposite 
equation, with a combination of low 
wholesale prices over the year and low 
inflows into the Waikato catchment. 

The average spot price over the 
year was $63/MWh, compared to  
$67/MWh in 2009. This reflected 
above average national hydro storage 
and flat national electricity demand 
due to weak economic activity. 

We fully support the Environment 
Waikato decision on Variation 6 (water 
allocation) to retain the status quo on 
the Waikato River. Given the limited 
storage available and the economic 
value of the resource to New Zealand, 
it is critical to the nation that no 
further water allocation is made 
from the Waikato Hydro System. 
Such allocation would transfer value 
from the people and businesses of 
New Zealand as a whole, through 
their use of the energy provided, to 
a very small number of irrigators. 
Further extraction would also be 
likely to impact fresh water quality.

During the past year we have 
carried out an international 
benchmarking exercise to assess 
planned levels of spending on 
maintenance and enhancement of 
our hydro assets. Following the 
exercise we confirmed a significant 
programme to upgrade these assets. 
We have begun work at the Ohakuri, 
Whakamaru and Arapuni hydro power 

stations, which will be delivered over 
the next six years at a cost of between 
$120m and $150m. For example, at 
our Ohakuri Power Station, we are 
investing $29m into upgrading the 
runner at the station – the part of 
the turbine that converts the flow of 
water into mechanical energy used 
to generate electricity. We are also 
carrying out work on the generator 
at Arapuni Power Station at a cost of 
$22m. These pieces of work, which 
we expect to complete by 2014, 
will result in the production of an 
additional 6.2GWh of electricity each 
year at Arapuni and an additional 
25.7GWh per annum at Ohakuri.

In December Waikato-Tainui agreed 
to amend its Treaty Settlement, 
enabling legislation to be passed to 
form the Waikato River Authority. This 
has resulted in a more practical co-
governance framework and we look 
forward to working with the Authority  
to deliver its key objectives 
for the Waikato River.

Gas-fired generation
Production from our gas-fired 
plant at Southdown in the year to 
30 June 2010 was up 14 percent 
on the previous period to 504GWh. 
We used Southdown extensively in 
November and December when gas 
prices were low and then again in 
March and April, in response to high 
wholesale electricity prices. There was 
significant investment in maintenance 
at Southdown during the year, with 
a major overhaul of two of the three 
gas turbines and the steam turbine.

Company Overview

Operations
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Carbon 
We entered into carbon supply 
agreements with three Taupo 
landowners, covering more than  
1,500ha of planted forest, during 
the 2010 financial year. With the 
introduction of the Emissions Trading 
Scheme (ETS), Mighty River Power 
has begun to acquire carbon credits 
to offset its carbon liability as a 
generator. All three landowners are 
committed to land conversion under 
the Lake Taupo Protection Trust (LTPT) 
programme, which is designed to 
help improve water quality in Lake 
Taupo and the Waikato River by 
reducing nitrogen run-off caused by 
agricultural activities. The carbon 
trading component of land conversion 
is important to ensure that the 
planting of forests on lake shore land 
is financially viable for landowners.

We will continue to pursue carbon 
supply agreements in the Taupo/ 
Waikato catchment that support the 
delivery of improved water quality, both 
through our recently announced tender 
process and directly with landowners.

Sale of bioenergy plants
In June we announced the sale of our 
interest in two Auckland landfill power 
stations – Rosedale in Albany and 
Greenmount in East Tamaki. Our last 
remaining landfill station – Tirohia, 
located near Paeroa – was then 
sold early in the 2011 financial year. 
We no longer regard bioenergy as 
strategic to our business as it is small 
scale with low growth prospects. 

An extended period of drought in 
the Waikato region depleted Lake 
Taupo storage, which dropped to 
within 7cm of the bottom of our 
operating range. This contrasted 
sharply with the previous year’s 
record inflows.

Generation production
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In January 2010 we commenced an upgrade of one of 
the generating units at our Whakamaru Hydro Power 
Station. The four-month project involved removing the 
generator, refurbishing all the key components, and 
then reassembling and commissioning it. The overhaul 
involved significant engineering and logistical work, 
with the end result being a generating unit that operates 
more efficiently and has an increased lifespan.
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Company Overview

Mercury Energy and Bosco Connect 
– a 100 percent-owned subsidiary of 
Mighty River Power – had another 
year of strong growth. Retail customer 
numbers across both businesses grew 
by 30,000 to reach a total of 412,000 
and market share grew to 21 percent. 

Market share growth for Mercury 
Energy has been particularly strong 
on the North Shore of Auckland (now 
37 percent), Christchurch (now 10 
percent) and in Dunedin (now 20 
percent). This growth has taken 
place in a highly competitive market, 
where up to 35,000 customers are 
switching providers each month. 

During the year we implemented 
a range of fees for different payment 
methods. Behind this is a philosophy 
that customers should always have a 
low-cost or no-cost option, but, where 
they prefer not to use that option, that 
they meet the cost impact of their 
choice of service level or channel. 
Looking forward, Mercury Energy will 
advance this transparency further. 

In November Bosco Connect 
announced the launch of its new niche 
electricity retailer Tiny Mighty Power. 
Tiny Mighty Power was developed to 
offer the benefits of the increasingly 
competitive retail electricity market 
to those who live outside of New 
Zealand’s main centres, areas that 
are typically exposed to less active 
competition. Launched in the South 
Waikato towns of Cambridge and Te 
Awamutu, Tiny Mighty Power now 
holds an estimated 11 percent and 
17 percent respectively of the retail 
electricity market in those towns. Tiny 
Mighty Power will look to build on its 
success by moving into other New 
Zealand towns in the coming year.

Bosco Connect is now our default 
service provider to the apartment 
segment, holding 63 percent share 
of the Auckland apartment market, 
with Mercury Energy having largely 

withdrawn from that market.
During the past financial year we 

completed a significant upgrade to 
the GLO-BUG smart prepay product, 
simplifying the product and making 
it more scaleable. The product is 
now active in 13,000 households 
and the GLO-BUG prepay service 
is now priced on par with post-pay, 
a significant step forward. Other 
enhancements delivered as part of the 
upgrade include providing more than 
1,000 outlets in the Auckland region 
where customers can top-up, a fixed 
disconnection time and an extended 
warning period before disconnection. 
GLO-BUG will increasingly become 
our most commonly used option for 
debt management, putting customers 
in control of matching their energy 
expenditure to their income, providing 
an easier path to debt repayment 
and ensuring continuity of supply.

Over the course of the year, we 
continued to maintain and develop 
our relationships with community 
organisations, local councils, 
government departments and social 
agencies. These relationships make 
it easier for Mercury Energy to work 
with customers who are having 
difficulty meeting bill payments, as 
they allow us to put debt management 
and avoidance strategies in place at 
an early stage, helping customers 
ensure their energy supply and 
avoid the debt cycle. By taking 
this proactive approach, Mercury 
Energy has reduced its customer 
debt profile despite the recession.

In the coming financial year, 
Mercury Energy will look to maintain 
its market share in what is an 
increasingly competitive market. We 
will also strengthen our focus on 
customer debt avoidance and our 
debt management. Our rollout of the 
GLO-BUG product to a greater number 
of customers will be a big part of this.

Retail
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Our rollout of smart meters has 
continued during the 2010 financial 
year. To date we have installed more 
than 117,000 post-pay mesh meters 
and more than 17,500 pre-pay capable 
meters. Metrix is now looking to 
accelerate the rollout and aims to 
bring the total number of smart 
meters deployed to 240,000 by 30 June 
2011, largely completing our single 
phase rollout in greater Auckland.

In February 2010 Metrix received an 
innovation award from Elster Solutions 
(USA), a leading international supplier 
of smart metering technology. The 
award recognises Metrix’ development 
and testing of radio-based smart 
meter communication products in rural 
and suburban environments using 
Elster equipment. The technology 
trial involved developing and testing a 
low cost radio repeater that enables 
long distance communication links to 
smart meters. This is ideal for enabling 
smart metering systems to operate 

effectively in sparsely populated areas 
at significantly reduced cost from 
other communication technologies 
such as GPRS and Satellite. Elster 
has now adopted the concept into 
its global system portfolio.

During the year, Metrix completed 
recertification of around 4,000 
“Category 2” metering installations 
– meters that are typically used by 
businesses and small industry. This 
has been the second-largest project 
of its type in New Zealand, and was 
successfully completed on time and in 
line with all regulatory requirements.

Metrix also initiated agreements 
with another smart metering service 
company to allow for easier access 
to information from smart meters. 
If extended throughout the industry 
over time, this will allow electricity 
retailers to select a single metering 
service company to supply all their 
metering information, regardless of 
where the meters are installed or who 

owns the metering infrastructure. 
The development of this data 
exchange model is a significant 
step towards progressing the use of 
smart metering in New Zealand. It 
provides a simple and cost effective 
approach to exchanging information 
that will result in lower overall costs 
in the smart meter environment.

The migration to smart metering 
will transform the traditional metering 
business from asset leasing to data 
services plus asset leasing. This 
change is dramatic and requires 
new skills, new systems and new 
processes. It is also relatively capital 
intensive compared to the legacy 
metering businesses, with economies 
of scale and efficiency of service 
being critical to success. For these 
reasons we believe that coming 
years will see material consolidation 
in the metering industry, something 
that Mighty River Power supports.

Metrix

Metering

The migration to smart metering will transform the 
traditional metering business from asset leasing 
to data services plus asset leasing. This change is 
dramatic and requires new skills, new systems and 
new processes.
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We believe that corporate 
responsibility is about making 
sure our business is sustainable 
for the long term – commercially, 
environmentally and socially. Achieving 
this balance involves a practical 
approach, which integrates principles 
of sustainability throughout every 
part of our business. This means that 
we go beyond compliance to draw on 
best practice in our management of 
natural resources. We engage with 
the many different stakeholder groups 
upon whom our business depends, 
including our partners, our staff, 
our customers and the communities 
in which we operate. We also 
communicate openly and transparently 
with our owners – the people of 
New Zealand. We must ensure that 
our business is well governed and 
that it is managed in a way that is 
commercially sustainable. This is what 
corporate responsibility means to us.

People
Health & Safety 
We continue to place a strong 
emphasis on continuously improving 
the Company’s health and safety 
procedures, particularly in respect 
of our major development and 
construction projects. New initiatives 
during the year included working 
with other companies within the 
electricity industry to share best 
practice in health and safety, with the 
aim of lifting standards across the 
contracting and sub-contracting base.

Data for the year shows: 

 2010 2009

Lost time injury frequency 

Injury Frequency Rate 0.47% 0.32% 

Total annual lost time injuries 

Employees 6 3

Contractors 7  5 

Medical treatment incidents 

Employee 14 22

Contractor 20 30 

Absenteeism 1.75%  1.47%

Employees

Total employees 821  843

Employment type 

Permanent Full Time 696  716

Permanent Part Time 31  33

Fixed Term 70  78

Casual 24  16

Staff turnover

Voluntary  14.6%  12.2%

Involuntary 5.87%  5.5%

Total 20.47% 17.7% 

Apprentices 48  60 

Graduate Programme  

members  14  12 

Summer internships  11  14 

Staff enrolled in Kiwisaver  60%  53% 

 

Employee remuneration
The Chief Executive’s total 
remuneration in the year to 30 June 
2010 was $1,317,469, compared to 
$1,255,394 in 2009. This total was 
made up of fixed remuneration of 
$934,125 ($923,550 in 2009), a short 
term incentive payment of $170,011 
($171,844 in 2009), and a payment 
of $213,333 (compared to $160,000 
in 2009) under the contracted long 

term incentive plan. The short term 
incentive and long term incentive 
payments related to performance 
in the 2009 financial year. 

The total number of employees 
of Mighty River Power and its 
subsidiaries (not including Directors 
or the Chief Executive) who received 
remuneration and other benefits 
in excess of $100,000 was 229 
compared to 171 in 2009. This 
increase reflects the full-year effect 
of the geothermal professional staff 
employed by the Company in 2009.

remuneration Bands  Number

$100,001 $110,000 52

$110,001 $120,000 34

$120,001 $130,000 27

$130,001 $140,000 25

$140,001 $150,000 20

$150,001 $160,000 13

$160,001 $170,000 8

$170,001 $180,000 6

$180,001 $190,000 8

$190,001 $200,000 8

$200,000 $210,000 5

$210,001 $220,000 3

$220,001 $230,000 2

$230,001 $240,000 1

$240,001 $250,000 0

$250,001 $260,000 0

$260,001 $270,000 2

$270,001 $280,000 1

$280,001 $290,000 1

$290,001 $300,000 1

$300,001 $310,000 1

$330,001 $340,000 1

$340,001 $350,000 0

$350,000 $360,000 0

$360,001 $370,000 1

$370,001 $380,000 1

$380,001 $390,000 0

$390,001 $400,000 1

$400,001 $410,000 2

$410,001 $420,000 2

$420,001 $430,000 1

$430,001 $440,000 1

Corporate Responsibility
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Building capability
The success of our business is 
underpinned by our investment in 
people and we are committed to 
recruiting, developing and retaining 
the talent needed to take the business 
forward. During the past 10 years 
we have employed experts from all 
over the world in our geothermal 
and wind teams. By supporting local 
university research and employing 
graduates and apprentices we are 
also investing in New Zealand’s 
energy experts of the future. We were 
proud that one of our apprentices 
was once again declared to be the 
Electricity Supply Industry Training 
Organisation (ESITO) Generation 
Trainee of the Year in 2010. Kendra 
Butler, an electrical apprentice who has 
worked at both the Southdown Power 
Station and from our Hamilton office, 
won the award for demonstrating 
excellence in vocational training.

Business continuity
Like all electricity generators, Mighty 
River Power has been identified by 
the Ministry of Civil Defence as a 
“lifeline utility” – that is a company 
that provides a service essential to the 
community. We take this responsibility 
seriously and are committed to doing 
all we can to mitigate risks to the 
business, as well as preparing for 
events – such as natural disasters 
– that are out of our control. During 
the year we carried out incident 
management simulation exercises 
that tested the response of each part 
of the business to a critical incident. 
We focussed on ensuring that the 
safety of our staff and the public was 

paramount, that essential services 
were preserved or repaired as 
quickly as possible, and that fast and 
effective communication processes 
were in place. These exercises were 
independently monitored and achieved 
very positive results. The feedback we 
received has been used by the business 
to fine tune our systems and we intend 
to hold such exercises annually to 
ensure staff are adequately prepared 
should such an incident occur.

Environment
Water use 
The recent drought in the Waikato 
region once again brought into sharp 
relief the need for careful and efficient 
use of water. We are committed to 
operating the Waikato Hydro System 
as efficiently as we can, and wherever 
possible avoid spilling water. During 
the year, we spilled 56.6GWh of water. 
As illustrated by the table below, 
12.8GWh of this spill was to meet 
our regulatory requirement of daily 
water releases down the Aratiatia 
Rapids. The non-regulatory spill 
represents just one percent of our 
total hydro generation production.
 
Energy Lost  2010 (GWh)

Plant outages1 30.7

Regulatory requirement2 12.8

Transmission constraint 8.8

Other3 4.3

Total 56.6

1 Includes plant testing, or planned/unplanned outages.

2 Mighty River Power has a regulatory requirement to 

schedule daily releases down the Aratiatia Rapids for 

Tourism purposes

3 Includes hydraulic constraint, high inflow, and 

obstruction.

Compliance
Our business activities operate 
under resource consents 
and legal requirements.

Our operations business monitors 
its performance against environmental 
resource consents and reports on this 
performance regularly to the relevant 
regional bodies. All of our generation 
activities achieved a very high level 
of compliance with the conditions 
of our resource consents over the 
year and there were no enforcement 
actions by regulatory authorities.

During the year we reconfirmed 
our company-wide Enviro-Mark 
Diamond status. Enviro-Mark 
NZ provides businesses with 
a framework to systematically 
assess their performance against 
agreed standards. There are five 
standards, of which Diamond is the 
highest, and achievement of each 
is verified by an external audit.

Corporate Responsibility
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Greenhouse gas emissions
Over the 2010 financial year, 91 percent 
of Mighty River Power’s electricity 
production was generated from 
renewable sources, which produce 
little or no greenhouse gases. Our 
direct emissions were 576,981 tonnes 
CO2e, up by 94,552 tonnes on last year, 
primarily as a result of our increased 
use of the Southdown gas-fired station.
   

 2010 2009 

GHG Tonnes Tonnes

Direct1 576,981 482,429

Indirect2 5,442 4,475

Total 582,423 486,904

1  Includes emissions from all plant over which Mighty 

River Power has operational control. Excludes emissions 

from bioenergy production, all construction and drilling 

projects. 
2  Includes internal electricity consumption, employee air 

travel, car rental, mileage and taxi usage, but excludes  

waste disposal and paper usage.

Community
All of Mighty River Power’s activities 
are based on an understanding that 
to operate successfully we need the 
support of the communities in which 
we do business. Our involvement 
in these communities is active and 
includes supporting local activities, 
sponsoring community events, and 
talking with those who are affected 
by our activities to ensure that their 
views are taken into account.

Stakeholder engagement
Mighty River Power’s commercial 
success is underpinned by strong 
and credible relationships with 
our stakeholders. We believe it is 
important that we are open and 
transparent about our performance 
and business operations. We therefore 
engage in a number of activities 
that build relationships with our 
key stakeholders, whilst helping to 
communicate what is happening within 
the business to our customers, our 
employees and the wider public.

In February 2010 Mighty River 
Power held its inaugural Public Meeting 
in Rotorua. This was an opportunity 
for our Board and Chief Executive 
to tell interested members of the 
public and other stakeholders about 
our performance over the year and 
our long-term growth strategy. We 
have committed to holding a Public 
Meeting each year to coincide with 
the publication of our Annual Report. 
Mighty River Power also communicates 
regularly to our wider stakeholder 
groups and the public via press 
releases, newsletters and our website.

Our partnerships with Maori are 
extremely important to the business. 
Not only do we have a number of 
commercial relationships with Maori 
Land Trusts, but we also work closely 
with local iwi in all our operational 
areas, consulting in particular on 
how we manage natural resources 
in these areas. These consultations 

take a number of forms – both 
formal and informal – including 
hui, partnership committees, and 
regular meetings with individuals.

We encourage our customers to 
tell us what is important to them 
and what we can improve through 
regular customer surveys and we are 
increasingly using other channels, 
such as Facebook, to interact with 
our customers. Our Contact Centre 
assisted customers on more than 
650,000 phone calls and the Mercury 
Energy website received more than 
370,000 unique visits during the year.

Sponsorships and donations
Mighty River Power supports a range 
charities and not-for-profit groups in 
the regions where we operate. In the 
past 12 months we gave more than $2.6 
million in sponsorships and donations. 
The focus of our sponsorship activity 
is on programmes that protect 
the environment or build strong 
communities. Some examples of our 
sponsorships over the year are below.

Starship Children’s Hospital
The Mercury Energy Star Supporters 
Club entered its sixth year in 2010. 
This successful charity partnership 
enables customers to donate to 
Starship Children’s Hospital through 
their monthly electricity bill. With our 
customers donating around $400,000 
a year, the Star Supporters Club is 
one of the Starship Foundation’s 
most important revenue streams.

Membership of the scheme 
increased by almost 40 percent over 
the 2010 financial year. This practical 
demonstration of collective giving 
is something that we are proud to 
facilitate. We would like to acknowledge 
the generosity of our Star Supporters 
Club customers whose gifting, together 
with our corporate donations, has 
provided six years of strong benefits 
to the hospital and its young patients.
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Waikato River Trails
Waikato River Trails Trust is building 
100km of walking trails between 
Taupo and Karapiro. Mighty River 
Power is a major sponsor of the 
Trust. We support its vision and 
desire to showcase the Waikato River 
and surrounding environment for 
its natural beauty and its role as a 
treasured local recreational resource.

Ironman New Zealand  
Volunteer Crew
Each year more than 2000 people 
volunteer their time to make the 
Ironman event a success and Mighty 
River Power is proud to support this 
dedicated group. Our sponsorship 
of Ironman NZ’s volunteer crew 
helps provide facilities, uniforms 
and meals for the volunteers 
each year. Providing this support 
helps maintain a high volunteer 
retention rate for future events.

Supporting New Zealand’s  
elite rowing 
Mighty River Power has always been 
a significant sponsor of New Zealand 
rowing and is proud to be helping 
bring the 2010 FISA World Rowing 
Championships back to Lake Karapiro 
in October 2010 for the first time in 
32 years. We are a Premier Partner 
of the Championships and exclusive 
sponsor of the Karapiro Crew, the 
Championships’ official volunteer 
team. As operators of the Waikato 
Hydro System, including the Karapiro 
Power Station, we will support the 
event in more ways than sponsorship 
alone. We are working closely with 
event organisers to manage water 
flows and deliver optimum rowing 
conditions on Lake Karapiro, and 
through a sponsorship agreement 
with Waipa District Council we 
have contributed to the Council’s 
major site development works. 

Mighty River Domain
Mighty River Domain, formerly 
Karapiro Domain, was renamed as 
part of our ten-year sponsorship 
agreement with Waipa District Council. 
Mighty River Power's sponsorship has 
helped build much-improved facilities 
for the local community and make 
the Mighty River Domain an excellent 
hosting venue for the World Rowing 
Championships. The completion of 
the Mighty River Domain entranceway 
was a symbolic achievement 
as the structure recognises the 
significance of the domain and lake 
to the local community and iwi.

Corporate Responsibility
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Board of Directors 

Joan Withers (Chair) MBA, AFInstD

Joan was appointed a Director of Mighty River Power in 
August 2009. She has spent over 20 years working in the 
media industry, holding senior executive positions in both 
newspaper and radio. She has served as the Chief Executive 
Officer of Fairfax New Zealand Limited and the Radio Network 
of New Zealand.

Interests: 
Director: Auckland International Airport Limited
Deputy Chair: Television New Zealand Limited
Trustee: Sweet Louise Foundation
Trustee: The Tindall Foundation
 

Trevor Janes (Deputy Chair) BCA (Econ), CA, FCFIP, FInstD

Trevor is the Chair of the Risk Assurance and Audit 
Committee. He was appointed to the Board in June 2005. 
Trevor is an investment banker and financial analyst.

Interests: 
Deputy Chairman/Audit Committee Chairman: 
Abano Healthcare Group Limited 
Member, Investment Committee of the Board: 
Accident Compensation Corporation 
Director and Shareholder:  Selenium Corporation Limited 
Director:  ProCare Health Limited 
Chairman and Shareholder: Salvus Strategic Investments Limited
Chair: Public Trust Office
Director and Shareholder:  
LPF Group Limited and subsidiary and associated companies
Advisory Board Member:  NZAID 
 

Dr Michael Allen BE (CHEM) (Hons), PhD 

Michael was appointed a Director of Mighty River Power in 
November 2009. He has 25 years experience in international 
geothermal engineering consultancy and has been active in 
brokering financing from banking and private equity sources 
for clean energy projects within the ASEAN region. 

Interests: 
Chairman and Shareholder: ReEx Capital Asia Limited (Singapore)
Director and Shareholder: Mid Century Design Limited
 

Diana Crossan BA 

Diana was appointed as a Director of Mighty River Power in 
November 2007. Diana holds the position of Retirement 
Commissioner and has previously held a number of 
government and private sector management positions.

Interests: 
Chair: Whai Rawa Management Limited 
Chair: Orangi Kaupapa Trust 
Chair: Refugees in Business, Wellington
 

Prue flacks LLB, LLM

Prue was appointed a Director of Mighty River Power in May 
2010. She is a barrister and solicitor with extensive specialist 
experience in commercial law. Prue is a consultant to Russell 
McVeagh where she previously occupied the position of 
partner for 20 years.

Interests: 
Director: Bank of New Zealand Limited
Director: Bull Family Trust Limited 
Director: Planboe Limited
Trustee: Victoria University of Wellington Foundation
 

Joan Withers Trevor Janes Dr Michael Allen Diana Crossan
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Jon Hartley BA (Hons), FCA (England and Wales), ACA (Australia), FAICD 

Jon was appointed a Director of Mighty River Power in 
November 2009. He has held senior executive and non-
executive roles across a diverse range of commercial  
and not-for-profit organisations.

Interests: 
Director: ASB Bank and ASB Life
Director: VisionFund International Limited
Director: VisionFund Cambodia Limited
Director: Mission Residential Care Limited
Director and Shareholder Trustee: Trango Capital Limited
Advisory Group Member: TR Group
Trustee: Wellington City Mission
Trustee: World Vision NZ
 

Sandy Maier JD, BA

Sandy is the Chair of the Human Resources Committee. 
Sandy has a consulting firm specialising in corporate strategy 
and governance, and financial and human resource issues. He 
has been a Director of Mighty River Power since April 2002.

Interests: 
Chairman: Click Clack Limited 
Chairman and Shareholder: Geon Group Limited and subsidiaries 
Chairman: Learning Media Limited
Chairman: Ngai Tahu Investment Advisory Sub-Committee
Chairman: Oyster Bay Marlborough Vineyards Limited
Chairman: Pathfinder Asset Management Limited
Chairman: Radius Properties Limited
Director: Fronde Systems Group Limited 
Director: McConnell Limited and subsidiaries 
Director: Perpetual Capital Management Limited 
Director: Taranaki Investment Management Limited 
Director and Shareholder:  
Ultimate Care Group Limited and subsidiaries
Shareholder: Directions Understanding Governance Limited 
Shareholder: Escalator Advertising Limited
Shareholder: Lincoln Capital
Shareholder: Maier Limited 
Shareholder: Tilda Holdings Limited
Chief Executive Officer: South Canterbury Finance
 

Tania Simpson BA, MMM

Tania was appointed a director of Mighty River Power in 
November 2001. She is of Ngati Maniapoto and Ngati Manu 
descent and lives in the Maniapoto district. She has held a 
number of management positions with a focus on social 
policy, economic development and Treaty-related matters.

Interests: 
Director and Shareholder: Kowhai Consulting Limited 
Director: Oceania Group Limited 
Director: Landcare Research New Zealand Limited
Trustee: Kowhai Trust
Trustee: Tui Trust 
Member: Waitangi Tribunal
 

Keith Smith BCOM, FCA

Keith was appointed a Director of Mighty River Power in May 
2009. He has a long-standing record of leadership as a 
director and advisor to companies in a diverse range of 
industries. Keith is a senior partner in the national accounting 
practice BDO Spicers and is a past President of the New 
Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Interests: 
Chairman: Enterprise Motor Group Limited and various subsidiary  
and associated companies  
Director: H J Asmuss & Co Limited
Director and Shareholder:  
New Zealand Farming Systems Uruguay Limited
Chairman: Mobile Surgical Services Limited and various subsidiary 
and associated companies 
Director: PGG Wrightson Limited and subsidiaries
Chairman and Shareholder:  
The Warehouse Group Limited and subsidiaries
Chairman: Tourism Holdings Limited
Director: Community Financial Services Limited
Director: Electronic Navigation Limited and various subsidiary  
and associated companies
Chairman: Goodman (NZ) Limited and subsidiaries
Director and Shareholder: Harpers Gold Limited and subsidiaries
Director: K One W One Limited and various subsidiary  
and associated companies
Director: The Ascot Hospital & Clinics Limited and subsidiaries
Director and Shareholder: Gwendoline Holdings Limited
 
Disclosures of General Interest pursuant to Section 140(2)  
of the Companies Act 1993 as at 26 July 2010

Prue Flacks Jon Hartley Sandy Maier Tania Simpson Keith Smith
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The Board of Mighty River Power  
is guided by best practice corporate 
governance and adheres to a 
comprehensive Board Charter. As 
a State Owned Enterprise, Mighty 
River Power operates under a 
corporate governance framework 
consisting of its legal requirements 
(such as the Companies Act 1993 
and the State-Owned Enterprises 
Act 1986) and formal and informal 
practices adopted by the Board.

Although Mighty River Power is  
a State Owned Enterprise it received 
no direct financial assistance from 
the Government. The Company 
made no financial or in-kind 
donations to any political parties, 
politicians or related institutions.

role of the Board
The Board is responsible for the 
overall direction of Mighty River 
Power’s business and other 
activities on behalf of shareholding 
Ministers. The Company’s principal 
objectives are to operate as a 
successful business and to be:
1. As profitable and efficient as 

comparable businesses that 
are not owned by the Crown.

2. A good employer that has 
policies and practices that 
provide for the fair and proper 
treatment of employees in all 
aspects of their employment.

3. An organisation that exhibits 
an informed sense of social 
responsibility by having regard to 
the interests of the communities in 
which the Group operates and by 
supporting these where appropriate.

4. A leader in achieving sustainable 
development for the communities 
in which the Group operates 
through world’s best management 
of hydro, geothermal and 
other fuel resources.

Board Membership 
The Board is made up of nine non- 
executive Directors. Their profiles  
can be read on pages 26-27. 

Board Committees 
To assist Directors to carry out their 
duties, the Board has two standing 
committees. Other ad hoc committees 
may be formed from time to time.

risk Assurance and Audit Committee
The Risk Assurance and Audit 
Committee is chaired by Trevor Janes. 
The Committee’s role is to provide 
assurance to the Board that risks 
and threats to the business are being 
managed properly. The Committee 
also reviews the performance of 
internal and external auditors. Internal 
audit is outsourced to Deloitte. All 
Directors are invited to attend the 
Risk Assurance and Audit Committee 
meetings and are provided with 
copies of meeting minutes and any 
reports received by the Committee.

Human resources Committee
The Human Resources Committee 
is chaired by Sandy Maier. The 
Committee’s primary role is to 
consider organisational matters and 
remuneration policies concerning 
the Company’s employees 
and assure the Board of the 
Company’s development of people 
capabilities and competencies.

Board Performance review
Each year, the Board evaluates the 
performance of the Board as a whole 
and of the Chair. This is done using a 
variety of techniques including external 
consultants, questionnaires and Board 
discussion. The Chair’s performance is 
reviewed by all Directors and is then 
discussed with the Chair. Feedback 
from Senior Management on the 
Board’s performance is also sought 
and discussed with the Board.

Corporate Governance

BOArD COMPOSITION AND ATTENDANCE

    
 Board  
Board meetings  
member attended* Remuneration Notes

Joan Withers 13 $76,854 Appointed to Board 01/08/09

   Appointed Chair 01/11/09

Trevor Janes 14 $61,971 Appointed Deputy Chair 01/11/09

Mike Allen 10 $32,352 Appointed 01/11/09

Diana Crossan 11 $48,985 

Prue Flacks 2 $8,088 Appointed 01/05/10

Jon Hartley 9 $32,352 Appointed 01/11/09

Sandy Maier 14 $48,985 

Keith Smith 12 $48,552 

Tania Simpson 14 $48,985 

Carole Durbin 4 $33, 266 Resigned 31/10/09

John Baird 4 $20,791 Resigned 31/10/09

Neil Ranford 4 $16,633 Resigned 31/10/09

* 14 meetings held
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Planning
The Board held a strategic planning 
session and other review sessions 
this year. It also approved the 
Company’s draft Statement of 
Corporate Intent for shareholder 
approval, business plan, and budgets 
as part of its normal functions.

risk Management
It is a Board responsibility to identify 
and control the Company’s business 
risks. Major policies, which are 
subject to the Board’s approval and 
review, include: capital investment; 
treasury; electricity trading and 
risk management; accounting and 
financial; insurance and delegated 
authority limits. As part of managing 
its broader risk profile, the Board 
recognises the importance of full 
compliance with laws controlling 
environmental activities, management 
of natural resources, health and safety 
in employment, working conditions 
within buildings and customer health 
and safety. The Board monitors the 
Company’s compliance with relevant 
statutes through the regular reports 
it receives from management.

Auditor Independence
The Board’s policy on auditor 
independence from management 
places responsibility for managing 
the relationship with the Risk 
Assurance and Audit Committee. 
During the year, the Board reviewed 
the Company’s relationship with the 
auditor of its financial statements, 
Brent Penrose of Ernst & Young, on 
behalf of the Auditor-General. This 
review confirmed the present audit 
arrangements and noted no need to 
change them. The Risk Assurance and 
Audit Committee also reviewed the 
scope of services provided to Mighty 
River Power by Brent Penrose of Ernst 
& Young. This review confirmed no 
issues around auditor independence.

Corporate Governance
The Board of Directors has 
responsibility for ensuring the 
Company has effective policies in place 
to manage its risks. The Board decides 
the level and nature of the risks 
which are acceptable to the Company. 
The Chief Executive has overall 
responsibility for the day to day running 
of the Company and the day to day 
management of normal business risk.

Statement of Corporate Intent
In accordance with its obligations 
under the State-Owned Enterprises 
Act, the Company publishes an 
annual Statement of Corporate Intent 
as approved by its shareholders, 
which communicates the goals and 
strategies of the Company and outlines 
its expected performance. This 
document also contributes to Mighty 
River Power’s disclosure obligations.

Compliance with Securities 
Commission Guidelines
Mighty River Power complies fully with 
the Securities Commission Principles 
of Corporate Governance. A summary 
of the Company’s compliance with 
these principles may be found on 
the Mighty River Power website.

Indemnity and Insurance
Mighty River Power Limited has 
resolved to indemnify Directors 
and employees for any costs or 
liabilities referred to in Section 162 
(3) and 162 (4) of the Companies Act 
1993. The Company has arranged 
insurance for those Directors and 
employees in respect of any liability 
or costs referred to in Section 162 
(5) of the Companies Act 1993.

Loans to Directors
There were no loans by the 
Group to Directors.

Directors’ use of Information 
There were no notices from Directors 
of the Group requesting to use 
Company information received in their 
capacity as Directors that would not 
otherwise have been available to them.

Corporate responsibility
The Board accepts the Company’s 
position that corporate responsibility 
is part of the fabric of Mighty River 
Power. This is part of the Company’s 
everyday approach to good business 
practices. More detail on the Company’s 
approach to corporate responsibility 
can be read in the body of this report 
and on the Company website. 

Code of Ethics
Mighty River Power’s Directors 
comply with a Code of Ethics setting 
out the ethical and behavioural 
standards expected Company-wide. 
The Code of Ethics covers Directors’ 
obligations in performance of their 
duties. A copy of this document is 
available on the Company website.
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Doug Heffernan BE (Hons), ME, PhD, FIPENZ

Chief Executive
Doug has been Chief Executive since 
Mighty River Power was established 
in December 1998. Previously, Doug 
was Chief Executive of Power New 
Zealand Limited. He is a Director of 
the Tuaropaki Power Company and of 
GeoGlobal Energy LLC, Chairman of the 
Rotokawa Joint Venture and associated 
entities, and an Executive Council 
member of the NZ Business Council 
for Sustainable Development. He is 
also a Director of K2010, the governing 
body for the 2010 World Rowing 
Championships at Lake Karapiro.

William Meek BCom (Hons)

Chief financial Officer
William heads Mighty River Power’s 
Finance and Information Services 
functions, with a focus on financial 
and management reporting, 
treasury and finance, and the 
Group’s information systems. He 
was previously responsible for the 
Company’s investment and enterprise 
risk functions. William has 15 years 
industry experience in areas such as 
risk management, power development, 
wholesale markets and forecasting.

Bridget O’Shannessey BA

General Manager,  
Human resources
Bridget leads Mighty River 
Power’s change management and 
organisational development across its 
800 plus staff. She joined Mighty River 
Power in January 2010 following 15 
years experience as a senior executive 
with a number of New Zealand 
and international organisations, 
working predominantly in the human 
resources field. Previously she 
has worked for companies such 
as Bank of New Zealand, Hewlett-
Packard and Carter Holt Harvey. 

Executive Management Team
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James Munro
General Manager,  
retail and Corporate Affairs
James was appointed in 2008 to 
drive growth in Mighty River Power’s 
retail and metering business. He also 
manages the Company’s Corporate 
Communications and Legal functions.  
James joined Mighty River Power 
with a broad range of commercial 
experience having started his career as 
an accountant and with a background 
split between media, finance and 
banking. Previously, he has worked for 
companies such as The Economist in 
London, TVNZ, and St George Bank.

Mark Trigg BE (CHEM)

General Manager,  
Development
Mark is responsible for driving  
Mighty River Power’s generation 
development and growth strategy,  
both within New Zealand and 
internationally. Mark joined Mighty 
River Power in February 2010 
following 14 years experience in 
the New Zealand power sector 
where he has held a number of 
senior executive roles. He brings a 
range of experience in operations, 
business development, trading and 
risk management and strategy 
development. Prior to his career in 
the energy sector Mark worked in 
the financial markets in a range of 
trading and corporate finance roles. 

Fraser Whineray BE (CHEM) (Hons), MBA 

(Cambridge), GRADDIP, DY.SCI.TECH (Distinction)

General Manager,  
Operations
Fraser is responsible for maximising 
the performance of all of Mighty 
River Power’s generation operations 
and trading activities. He joined 
Mighty River Power in 2008 from 
Carter Holt Harvey. Prior to that he 
held a number of senior roles in 
the dairy industry and also spent 
five years with Credit Suisse First 
Boston in New Zealand and abroad. 
He has considerable experience 
in performance management, 
strategy, M&A and international 
business. Fraser is a director of 
Opus International Consultants.
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Performance Targets 

    

 2010 2010 

financial Performance Targets actual target

Return on equity employed (%) 9.7 9.6

Return on total capital employed (%) 8.2 8.5 

Total equity/total assets (%) 54.9 54.3

Free funds from operations/interest expense (%) 5.1 4.1 

EBITDAF/GWh ($) 59,826 58,700

Non-financial Performance Targets

Retail market share (%) 21.0  19.5 

Level of customer dissatisfaction lower than industry average Yes Yes

Retain a ranking in the top two of the five major energy  

retailers in Consumer New Zealand survey of electricity  

suppliers' performance Yes  Yes

Comply fully with Electricity Commission Guidelines  

for medically dependent and vulnerable customers Yes Yes 

Compliance orders by regulatory authorities None  None

Optimisation of power plant reliability: 

 - plant availability (%) 87.5 91.5 

 - forced outage factor (%) 2.2 <1.5 

Maintain the group’s Enviro-Mark diamond status Yes Yes

Lost time accidents – frequency rate per 100,000 hours worked 0.47 <0.4

Mighty River Power did not meet four of its 

performance targets for the 2010 financial year.

 The Company delivered a return on capital 

employed of 8.2 percent in 2010, against a target 

of 8.5 percent. This result reflected lower than 

planned EBITDAF, primarily due to the Waikato 

drought impacting hydro volumes and lower 

average prices over the year. Return on average 

equity employed was slightly above target at 9.7 

percent versus 9.6 percent, with lower interest 

costs offsetting the impact of lower EBITDAF.

 Plant availability measures the percentage 

of time that our plants are available for use, and 

forced outage factor records the amount of time 

our plants are required to close for maintenance. 

Plant optimisation in the 2010 year was below 

target and going forward the Company is placing 

increased emphasis on preventative maintenance.

 Regrettably we were not able to achieve our Lost 

Time Injury frequency target. While most of the 

incidents were minor and none were life threatening, 

the result is very disappointing and Mighty River 

Power management are strongly committed to 

improving this performance in the coming year.
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The Directors are responsible for 
ensuring that the financial statements 
comply with generally accepted 
accounting practices and represent 
a true and fair view of Mighty River 
Power Limited’s financial position 
as at 30 June 2010, and of the 
financial performance and cash 
flows for the current financial year.

The Directors consider 
that the Group and Company’s 
financial statements have been 
prepared using the appropriate 
accounting policies, that these 
have been consistently applied 
and are supported by reasonable 
judgements and estimates, and that 
all relevant financial and accounting 
standards have been followed.

The Directors believe that proper 
accounting records have been kept 
which allow for the determination 
of the Group and Company’s 
financial position with reasonable 
accuracy, and that the financial 
statements themselves comply with 
the Financial Reporting Act 1993 
and the Companies Act 1993.

The Directors consider that 
they have taken adequate steps 
to safeguard the Group and 
Company’s assets and to prevent 
and, where necessary, detect fraud 
and any other irregularities.

The Auditor-General is required 
to be the Company’s auditor, and 
has appointed Mr Brent Penrose 
of Ernst & Young to undertake 
the audit on her behalf.

The Directors are pleased to 
present Mighty River Power Limited’s 
annual report and financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2010.

Events Subsequent to Balance Date 
The Directors are not aware of 
any circumstances since the end 
of the year that have significantly 
or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Group.

Annual report Certificate 
This Annual Report is dated 30 August, 
2010 and is signed on behalf of the
Board by:

JOAN WITHErS 
Chair
30 August 2010

KEITH SMITH  
Director 
30 August 2010

Directors’ Responsibility Statement 
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TO THE READERS OF MIGHTY RIVER 
POWER LIMITED AND GROUP’S
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR  
THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

 The Auditor-General is the auditor  
of Mighty River Power Limited (the 
Company) and Group. The Auditor-
General has appointed me, Brent 
Penrose, using the staff and resources 
of Ernst & Young, to carry out the 
audit of the financial statements of the 
Company and Group, for the year  
ended 30 June 2010. 

Unqualified Opinion
In our opinion: 
•	 The	financial	statements	of	the	

company and group on pages  
35 to 76:

	 •	 comply	with	generally	 
  accepted accounting practice  
  in New Zealand; and

	 •	 give	a	true	and	fair	view	of:
	 	 •	 the	Company	and	Group’s		

 financial position as at  
 30 June 2010; and

	 	 •	 the	results	of	operations	and		
 cash flows for the year ended  
 on that date. 

•	 Based	on	our	examination	
the Company and Group kept 
proper accounting records.

The audit was completed on  
30 August 2010, and is the date at 
which	our	opinion	is	expressed.

The basis of our opinion is  
explained	below.	In	addition,	we	 
outline the responsibilities of the  
Board of Directors and the Auditor,  
and	explain	our	independence.

Basis of Opinion
We carried out the audit in accordance 
with	the	Auditor-General’s	Auditing	
Standards, which incorporate the  
New Zealand Auditing Standards.

We planned and performed the  
audit to obtain all the information 
and	explanations	we	considered	
necessary in order to obtain 
reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements did not have 
material misstatements, whether 
caused by fraud or error.

Material misstatements are 
differences or omissions of amounts 
and disclosures that would affect a 
reader’s	overall	understanding	of	the	
financial statements. If we had found 
material misstatements that were not 
corrected, we would have referred  
to them in our opinion. The audit 
involved performing procedures 
to test the information presented 
in the financial statements. We 
assessed the results of those 
procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:
•	 determining	whether	significant	

financial and management controls 
are working and can be relied on to 
produce complete and accurate data;

•	 verifying	samples	of	transactions	 
and account balances;

•	 performing	analyses	to	identify	
anomalies in the reported data;

•	 reviewing	significant	estimates	 
and judgements made by the  
Board of Directors;

•	 confirming	year-end	balances;
•	 determining	whether	accounting	

policies are appropriate and 
consistently applied; and

•	 determining	whether	all	financial	
statement disclosures are adequate.
 

We	did	not	examine	every	transaction,	
nor do we guarantee complete 
accuracy of the financial statements.

We evaluated the overall adequacy 
of the presentation of information in 
the financial statements. We obtained 
all	the	information	and	explanations	we	
required to support our opinion above.

Responsibilities of the Board  
of Directors and the Auditor
The Board of Directors is responsible 
for preparing financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practice in New Zealand. 
The financial statements must give  
a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Company and Group 
as at 30 June 2010 and of the results 
of operations and cash flows for the 
year ended on that date. The Board of 
Directors’	responsibilities	arise	from	
the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986 
and the Financial Reporting Act 1993. 

We	are	responsible	for	expressing	
an independent opinion on the financial 
statements and reporting that opinion 
to you. This responsibility arises 
from section 15 of the Public Audit 
Act 2001 and section 19(1) of the 
State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.

 
Independence
When carrying out the audit 
we followed the independence 
requirements of the Auditor-General, 
which incorporate the independence 
requirements of the New Zealand 
Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Other than the audit, we have no 
relationship with or interests in the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

BRENT PENROSE 
Ernst & Young
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Auckland, New Zealand

Audit Report 

This audit report relates to the financial statements 
of Mighty River Power Limited and Group for 
the year ended 30 June 2010 included on Mighty 
River	Power’s	website.		The	Company’s	Board	of	
Directors is responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity	of	the	Mighty	River	Power’s	website.		We	
have not been engaged to report on the integrity 
of	the	Mighty	River	Power’s	website.		We	accept	
no responsibility for any changes that may have 

occurred to the financial statements since they 
were initially presented on the website.  

The audit report refers only to the financial 
statements named above.  It does not provide 
an opinion on any other information which may 
have been hyperlinked to/from these financial 
statements.  If readers of this report are concerned 
with the inherent risks arising from electronic data 
communication they should refer to the published 

hard copy of the audited financial statements 
and related audit report dated 30 August 2010 to 
confirm the information included in the audited 
financial statements presented on this website.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Presentation of the Audited Financial Statements
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Financial Statements



36 Annual Report 2010 Mighty River Power Limited  

   Group Group Company Company
  Note 2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

     

Sales    1,485,088  1,428,867  1,405,208  1,382,287  

Less line charges    (403,286) (349,717) (399,383) (349,717)

Other revenue    22,773  40,741  25,998  44,378  

Total revenue    1,104,575  1,119,891  1,031,823  1,076,948 

     

Energy costs    500,737  460,659  500,737  460,659 

Other direct cost of sales, including metering    46,384  28,611  37,529  21,881

Employee compensation and benefits    74,723  66,455  72,297  65,206  

Contractors’ fees    50,283  43,976  39,795  42,377 

Professional services    12,795  12,499  11,947  12,299 

Operations costs    15,132  17,901  13,014  14,895 

Other expenses    76,733  42,659  69,097  42,343 

Total expenses   4 776,787  672,760  744,416  659,660 

      

Earnings before net interest expense, income tax, depreciation,  

amortisation and financial instruments (EBITDAF)   327,788  447,131  287,407  417,288

      

Depreciation and amortisation   4 (98,707) (104,947) (67,636) (86,254)

Change in the fair value of financial instruments  24 8,081  (47,155) 7,973  (47,155)

Impaired assets   4 (31,373) (46,940) (8,908) (11,794)

Equity accounted earnings of associate companies  15 (11,703) 2,928  0  196 

Equity accounted earnings of interest in jointly controlled entities 17 (21,992) 0  0  0  

      

Earnings before net interest expense and income tax (EBIT)  172,094  251,017  218,836  272,281 

      

Interest expense   4 (34,394) (31,012) (34,104) (30,487)

Interest income    3,653  6,772  4,180  8,330 

Net interest expense    (30,741) (24,240) (29,924) (22,157) 

    

Profit before income tax    141,353  226,777  188,912  250,124 

     

Income tax expense   5 (56,739) (67,159) (60,068) (71,265)

Net profit for the period    84,614  159,618  128,844  178,859 

Net profit for the period is attributable to:

Owners of the parent    84,647  159,618  128,844  178,859 

Non controlling interests    (33) 0  0  0 

    84,614  159,618  128,844  178,859 

Supplementary disclosure

Underlying earnings after tax is presented to enable stakeholders to make an assessment and comparison of underlying earnings after removing 

significant one-off items and the change in the fair value of financial instruments.

Underlying earnings after tax   2 139,554  211,655  132,453  202,490 

Income Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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   Group Group Company Company
  Note 2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

     

Net profit for the period    84,614  159,618  128,844  178,859  

Other comprehensive income 

Fair value revaluation of hydro and co-generation assets  11 287,000  0  287,000  0  

Fair value revaluation of other generation assets  11  85,048  244,268  0  0 

Fair value revaluation of office land and buildings   11 (950) 0  (950) 0

Equity accounted share of movements in associates' reserves  15 19,865  11,053  0  0

Release of the available for sale investment  

reserve to the income statement    3,097  (3,097) 3,097  (3,097)

Retained losses acquired on amalgamation   0  0  (11,062) 0

Movements in foreign currency translation reserve   610  15  0  0

Cash flow hedges gain/(loss) taken to or released from equity  (89,281) 114,205  (82,851) 114,205

Income tax on items of other comprehensive income  5 (85,041) (106,612) (62,173) (33,331)

Impact of tax rate change    48,216  0  41,733  0

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of taxation  268,564  259,832  174,794  77,777

Total comprehensive income for the period   353,178  419,450  303,638  256,636  

Total comprehensive income for the period is attributable to:

Owners of the parent    353,211  419,450  303,638  256,636  

Non controlling interests    (33) 0  0  0 

    353,178  419,450  303,638  256,636 

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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     Available Foreign
     for sale currency Asset Cashflow Non-
   Issued Retained investment translation revaluation hedge controlling Total
   capital earnings reserve reserve reserve reserve Interest equity
   $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Group

Balance as at 1 July 2008  377,561  605,276  0  0  1,363,115  (88,302) 0  2,257,650 

Fair value revaluation of other generation  

assets, net of taxation  0  0  0  0  170,987  0  0  170,987 

Equity accounted share of movements  

in associate's reserves  0  0  0  0  0  11,053  0  11,053 

Net loss on available for sale investments,  

net of taxation  0  0  (2,168) 0  0  0  0  (2,168)

Movements in foreign currency translation reserve  0  0  0  15  0  0  0  15 

Cash flow hedges gain/(loss) taken to or released  

from equity, net of taxation  0  0  0  0  0  79,945  0  79,945 

Release of asset revaluation reserve for assets  

taken out of service, net of taxation  0 67 0 0 (67) 0 0 0

Other comprehensive income  0  67  (2,168) 15  170,920  90,998  0  259,832 

Net profit for the period  0  159,618  0  0  0  0  0  159,618 

Total comprehensive income  0  159,685  (2,168) 15  170,920  90,998  0  419,450 

Dividend  0  (55,500) 0  0  0  0  0  (55,500)

Balance as at 30 June 2009  377,561  709,461  (2,168) 15  1,534,035  2,696  0  2,621,600 

Balance as at 1 July 2009  377,561  709,461  (2,168) 15  1,534,035  2,696  0  2,621,600 

Fair value revaluation of hydro and co-generation  

assets, net of taxation  0  0  0  0  200,900  0  0  200,900 

Fair value revaluation of other generation  

assets, net of taxation  0  0  0  0  60,250  0  0  60,250 

Fair value revaluation of office land and buildings  0  0  0  0  (950) 0  0  (950)

Equity accounted share of movements  

in associate's reserves  0  0  0  0  21,020  (1,155) 0  19,865 

Release of reserve to the income statement,  

net of taxation  0  0  2,168  0  0  0  0  2,168 

Movements in foreign currency translation reserve  0  0  0  610  0  0  0  610 

Cash flow hedges gain/(loss) taken to or released  

from equity, net of taxation  0  0  0  0  0  (62,495) 0  (62,495)

Release of asset revaluation reserve for assets  

taken out of service, net of taxation  0  158  0  0  (158) 0  0  0 

Impact of tax rate change  0  0  0  0  50,652  (2,436) 0  48,216 

Other comprehensive income  0  158  2,168  610  331,714  (66,086) 0  268,564 

Net profit for the period  0  84,647  0  0  0  0  (33) 84,614 

Total comprehensive income  0  84,805  2,168  610  331,714  (66,086) (33) 353,178 

Non-controlling interest  0  0  0  0  0  0  192  192 

Dividend  0  (286,000) 0  0  0  0  0  (286,000)

Balance as at 30 June 2010  377,561  508,266  0  625  1,865,749  (63,390) 159  2,688,970  

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2010

      
      Available Foreign
      for sale currency Asset Cashflow 
    Issued Retained investment translation revaluation hedge Total
    capital earnings reserve reserve reserve reserve equity
    $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Company

Balance as at 1 July 2008   377,561  656,160  0  0  1,341,216  (76,481)  2,298,456 

Net loss on available for sale investments, net of taxation  0  0  (2,168) 0  0  0  (2,168)

Cash flow hedges gain/(loss) taken to or released  

from equity, net of taxation   0  0  0  0  0  79,945  79,945 

Release of asset revaluation reserve for assets  

taken out of service, net of taxation   0  67  0  0  (67) 0   0 

Other comprehensive income   0  67  (2,168) 0  (67) 79,945   77,777 

Net profit for the period   0  178,859  0  0  0  0  178,859 

Total comprehensive income   0  178,926  (2,168) 0  (67) 79,945  256,636  

Dividend   0  (55,500) 0  0  0  0  (55,500)

Balance as at 30 June 2009   377,561  779,586  (2,168) 0  1,341,149  3,464 2,499,592 

Balance as at 1 July 2009   377,561  779,586  (2,168) 0  1,341,149  3,464 2,499,592 

Fair value revaluation of hydro and co-generation  

assets, net of taxation   0  0  0  0  200,900  0 200,900 

Fair value revaluation of office land and buildings   0  0  0  0  (950) 0 (950)

Release of reserve to the income statement, net of taxation  0  0  2,168  0  0  0  2,168 

Cash flow hedges gain/(loss) taken to or released   

from equity, net of taxation   0  0  0  0  0  (57,995) (57,995)

Retained losses acquired on amalgamation   0  (11,062) 0  0  0  0 (11,062)

Release of asset revaluation reserve for assets   

taken out of service, net of taxation   0  158  0  0  (158) 0 0 

Impact of tax rate change   0  0  0  0  44,031  (2,298) 41,733 

Other comprehensive income   0  (10,904) 2,168  0  243,823  (60,293) 174,794 

Net profit for the period   0  128,844  0  0  0  0  128,844 

Total comprehensive income   0  117,940  2,168  0  243,823  (60,293) 303,638 

Dividend   0  (286,000) 0  0  0  0  (286,000)

Balance as at 30 June 2010   377,561  611,526  0  0  1,584,972  (56,829) 2,517,230 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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   Group Group Company Company
  Note 2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

     

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY     

Issued capital   7 377,561 377,561 377,561 377,561

Reserves    2,311,250 2,244,039 2,139,669 2,122,031

Non controlling interest    159 0 0 0

Total shareholders’ equity    2,688,970 2,621,600 2,517,230 2,499,592

     

ASSETS     

CURRENT ASSETS     

Cash and cash equivalents   8 7,905 56,823 2,224 55,584

Receivables   9 174,635 276,725 815,236 647,693

Inventories   10 20,226 14,299 15,462 13,319

Derivative financial instruments   24 35,476 39,333 34,534 39,333

Total current assets    238,242 387,180 867,456 755,929

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Property, plant and equipment   11 4,307,547 3,859,941 3,303,787 3,037,785

Intangible assets   12 32,114 32,803 21,716 21,972

Available for sale financial assets   13 2,049 4,050 2,049 4,050

Investment in subsidiaries   14 0 0 284,355 287,355

Investment and advances to associates   15 113,614 84,713 31,806 15,445

Investment in jointly controlled entities   17 111,926 0 0 0

Advances   18 11,841 0 0 0

Derivative financial instruments   24 77,567 19,377 86,653 19,377

Total non-current assets    4,656,658 4,000,884 3,730,366 3,385,984

Total assets    4,894,900 4,388,064 4,597,822 4,141,913

LIABILITIES     

CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Payables and accruals   19 148,469 176,461 134,859 156,244

Provisions   20 2,673 2,058 211 0

Current portion loans   21 0 42,456 0 30,060

Derivative financial instruments   24 143,155 92,706 143,736 92,706

Taxation payable    10,596 41,316 13,965 42,381

Total current liabilities    304,893 354,997 292,771 321,391

     

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Derivative financial instruments   24 132,685 67,464 133,927 67,464

Loans    21 978,758 600,079 978,758 600,079

Deferred tax   22 789,594 743,924 675,136 653,387

Total non-current liabilities    1,901,037 1,411,467 1,787,821 1,320,930

Total liabilities    2,205,930 1,766,464 2,080,592 1,642,321

NET ASSETS    2,688,970 2,621,600 2,517,230 2,499,592

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors who authorised the issue of the Financial Statements on 30 August 2010.

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2010

JOAN WITHERS 
Chair
30 AUGUST 2010

KEITH SmITH
Director
30 AUGUST 2010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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   Group Group Company Company
  Note 2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

CASH FLOWS FROm OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers    1,109,232  1,155,523  1,043,389  1,115,909 

Payments to suppliers and employees    (782,430) (738,441) (752,209) (726,636)

Interest received    3,555  6,011  3,051  5,996 

Interest paid    (52,807) (44,288) (51,828) (43,918)

Taxes paid    (78,040) (61,700) (78,000) (61,700)

Net cash provided by operating activities  25 199,510  317,105  164,403  289,651 

CASH FLOWS FROm INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment   (199,256) (169,385) (61,726) (37,828)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   696  24,518  446  24,480 

Acquisition of associate    0  (25) 0  (25)

Advances to associate    (27,866) (6,193) (22,622) (6,193)

Advances to associates repaid    4,402  2,765  4,402  2,765 

Advances to joint venture partner    (11,841) 0  0  0

Investment in jointly controlled entities    (133,835) 0  0  0

Acquisition of intangibles    (7,350) (11,494) (7,350) (3,195)

Acquisition of other non-current assets    (21,938) (62,017) 0  (8,524)

Investment in subsidiaries    0  0  0  (162,700)

Proceeds from disposal of other non-current assets   100,563  0  650  0 

Net cash used in investing activities    (296,425) (221,831) (86,200) (191,220)

CASH FLOWS FROm FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from loans    375,000  50,000  375,000  50,000 

Repayment of loans    (41,003) (67,000) (30,000) (67,000)

Loans to subsidiaries    0  0  (190,563) (4,348)

Dividends paid    (286,000) (55,500) (286,000) (55,500)

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities   47,997  (72,500) (131,563) (76,848)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents held   (48,918) 22,774  (53,360) 21,583 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period   56,823  34,049  55,584  34,001 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period   7,905  56,823  2,224  55,584 

Cash balance comprises:     

Cash    7,905  9,088  2,224  7,849 

Short term deposits    0  47,735  0  47,735 

Cash balance at the end of the period   7,905  56,823  2,224  55,584 

Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2010

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(1) Reporting entity

Mighty River Power Limited (the "Company") is a company incorporated in New Zealand, registered under the Companies Act 1993 and is an 

issuer for the purposes of the Financial Reporting Act 1993. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 

Financial Reporting Act 1993 and the Companies Act 1993.

The consolidated financial statements are for Mighty River Power Limited Group (the "Group"). The consolidated financial statements comprise 

the Company, its subsidiaries, associates and interests in jointly controlled assets and entities.

Mighty River Power Limited is wholly owned by Her Majesty the Queen in Right of New Zealand (the Crown). Consequently, the Company is 

bound by the requirements of the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.

The liabilities of the Company are not guaranteed in any way by the Crown. 

The Group’s principal activities are to invest in, develop and produce electricity from renewable and other energy sources and to sell energy 

and energy related services and products to retail and wholesale customers.

(2) Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally Accepted Accounting Practice ("NZ 

GAAP"). They comply with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards ("NZ IFRS") as appropriate for profit-oriented 

entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS").

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to both periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

The Group has adopted the following amended New Zealand Equivalents to International Reporting Standards as of 1 July 2009.

•	 	NZ	IAS	1	(revised)	-	Presentation	of	Financial	Statements.	This	revised	standard	introduces	a	statement	of	comprehensive	income.	

Other revisions include impacts on the presentation of items in the statement of changes in equity, new presentation requirements for 

restatements or reclassifications, changes in the presentation requirements for dividends and changes to the titles of financial statements. 

The amendments only affect the presentation of the financial statements.

•	 	NZ	IFRS	3	(revised)	-	Business	Combinations.	The	revised	standard	introduces	a	number	of	changes	in	the	accounting	for	business	

combinations that will impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period an acquisition occurs, and future 

reported results. 

•	 	NZ	IAS	27	(revised)	-	Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements.	The	revised	standard	requires	that	a	change	in	ownership	interest	of	

a subsidiary is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain 

or loss. The revision also changes the accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. There 

has been no impact since adoption.

•	 	NZ	IFRS	7	(revised)	-	Financial	Instruments:	Disclosure.	The	revised	disclosure	requirements	expand	the	disclosure	requirements	for	

financial instruments carried at fair value on the statement of financial position and expand and clarify the required disclosures in relation to 

liquidity risk. 

The	group	has	elected	not	to	early	adopt	the	following	standards	which	have	been	issued	but	are	not	yet	effective:	 	

•	 	NZ	IFRS	9	-	Financial	Instruments.	This	standard	is	part	of	the	project	to	replace	NZ	IAS	39	-	Financial	instruments:	Recognition	and	

Measurement. The standard, which will be effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013, applies to financial assets, their 

classification and measurement. Management have yet to determine the impact of this new standard on the financial statements.

•	 	NZ	IAS	24	(revised)	-	Related	Party	Disclosures.	This	revised	standard,	which	will	be	effective	for	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	

2011, simplifies the definition of a related party and provides a partial exemption from the disclosure requirements for government-related 

entities.

(b) Basis of measurement

The NZ IFRS financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical cost with the exception of certain items for which specific accounting 

policies are identified, as noted below.

(c) Estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 

policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010



 Mighty River Power Limited  Annual Report 2010 43

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 

which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have 

the	most	significant	effect	on	the	amount	recognised	in	the	financial	statements	are	described	below:

Generation plant and equipment

The Group's generation assets are stated at fair value as determined by an independent valuer. The basis of the valuation is the net present 

value of the future earnings of the assets, excluding any reduction for costs associated with restoration and environmental rehabilitation. The 

major inputs and assumptions that are used in the valuation model that require judgement include the forecast of the future electricity price 

path, sales volume forecasts, projected operational and capital expenditure profiles, capacity and life assumptions for each generation plant 

and discount rates.

Retail revenue

Management has exercised judgement in determining estimated retail sales for unread gas and electricity meters at balance date. Specifically 

this involves an estimate of consumption for each unread meter, based on the customer's past consumption history. The estimated balance is 

recorded in sales and as an accrual balance within receivables.

Restoration and environmental rehabilitation

Liabilities are estimated for the abandonment and site restoration of areas from which natural resources are extracted. Such estimates 

are valued at the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation. Key assumptions have been made as to the expected 

expenditures to remediate based on the expected life of the assets employed on the sites and an appropriate discount rate (see note 20).

Valuation of Financial instruments

Energy contracts are valued by reference to the Group's financial model for future electricity prices. Foreign exchange and interest rate 

derivatives are valued based on quoted market prices. Detailed information about assumptions and risk factors relating to financial 

instruments and their valuation are included in note 23.

Deferred tax

In May the Government passed a bill decreasing the headline company tax rate from 30% to 28% effective from 1st July 2011. Management 

have calculated the impact of the tax rate change on deferred tax based on an estimate of the deferred tax liability as at 30 June 2011. The 

Government also announced that tax depreciation deductions for buildings would be disallowed effective the same date.  As there is no 

definition of a building in the Income Tax Act, Management have had to make an assessment of whether those generation assets, which have 

historically been classified as buildings, have been appropriately classified or whether they would more appropriately be classified as plant 

(see note 22 for further detail).

(d) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in New Zealand Dollars ($). The functional currency of Mighty River Power Limited and all its 

subsidiaries, apart from Mighty Geothermal Power Limited and its direct subsidiaries and PT ENCZ Services Indonesia, is New Zealand Dollars. 

The functional currency of Mighty Geothermal Power Limited, and its subsidiaries, and PT ECNZ Services Indonesia is United States Dollars 

which has been translated to the presentation currency for these Group Accounts. All financial information has been rounded to the nearest 

thousand.

(3) Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits 

from their activities. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained by the Group and cease to be consolidated 

from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method 

of accounting. The acquisition method of accounting involves recognising at acquisition date, separately from goodwill, the identifiable assets 

acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. The identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed 

are measured at their acquisition date fair values. The difference between these items and the fair value of consideration (including the fair 

value of any pre-existing investment in the acquiree) is goodwill or discount on acquisition. 

All material inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised profits and losses arising from transactions between Group companies are 

eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests are allocated their share of net profit after tax in the statement of comprehensive income and are presented within 

equity in the consolidated balance sheet separately from the equity of the owners of the parent.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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A change in ownership interest of a subsidiary that does not result in the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group 

loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest 

and the cumulative foreign currency translation differences recorded in reserves if any. Further, the Group will recognise the fair value of any 

consideration received, the fair value of any investment retained, with any surplus or deficit recognised in profit or loss. The parent's share of 

components previously recognised in other comprehensive income will also be reclassified to profit or loss.

Associates

Associates are those entities in which the Company holds an equity interest and over which the Company has the capacity to significantly affect 

but not unilaterally determine the operating and/or financial policy decisions. Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method 

of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investments in associates include goodwill identified on acquisition.                                                                                   

The Group and Company's share of its associates' post acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income statement, and its share of post 

acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying 

amount of the investment.

Provision is made for any impairment in the value of investments in associates where the estimated recoverable amount is less than the 

carrying value.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the 

associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.                                                                                                                                     

Jointly controlled assets

Jointly controlled assets are joint arrangements in which the Group jointly controls or owns one or more assets and is consequently entitled 

to a share of the future economic benefit through its share of the jointly controlled assets. The Group’s interests in jointly controlled assets 

are accounted for by recognising its share of the jointly controlled assets, liabilities incurred jointly, income and expenses in the consolidated 

financial statements.

Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is a joint venture that involves the establishment of a corporation, partnership or other entity in which each venturer 

has an interest. The entity operates in the same way as other entities, except that a contractual arrangement between the venturers establishes 

joint control over the economic activity of the entity. The Group's interests in jointly controlled entities, similar to its interest in associates are 

accounted for using the equity method.

Where an entity becomes or ceases to be a Group entity during the year, the results of that entity are included in the net profit of the Group from 

the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal.

(b) Property, plant and equipment

Owned assets

Generation assets, which include freehold land and buildings and generation plant and equipment, are measured at fair value based on 

periodical valuations by third party valuation experts, less accumulated depreciation and less any impairment recognised after the date of the 

revaluation. The underlying assumptions are reviewed for reasonableness on an annual basis to ensure that recorded value is not materially 

different to fair value.

Costs incurred in obtaining resource consent are capitalised and recognised as a non-current asset where it is probable they will give rise to 

future economic benefit. These costs are amortised over the life of the consent on a straight-line basis.

Office land and buildings are measured at fair value based on periodical valuations as determined by third party valuation experts, less 

accumulated depreciation on buildings and less any impairment losses since the last revaluation.

Any surplus on revaluation of an individual item of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to the asset revaluation reserve unless 

it offsets a previous decrease in value recognised in the income statement, in which case it is recognised in the income statement.  A deficit on 

revaluation of an individual item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the income statement in the period it arises where it exceeds 

any surplus previously transferred to the asset revaluation reserve.  Any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is eliminated 

against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Additions to property, plant 

and equipment stated at valuation subsequent to the most recent valuation are recorded at cost.

All other items of property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost.

The cost of property, plant and equipment purchased comprises the consideration given to acquire the assets plus other directly attributable 

costs incurred in bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for their intended service.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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The cost of property, plant and equipment constructed by the Group, including capital work in progress, includes the cost of all materials used in 

construction, direct labour specifically associated and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads. Financing costs attributable to a 

project are capitalised at the Group’s specific project finance interest rate, where these meet certain time and monetary materiality limits.  Costs 

cease to be capitalised as soon as an asset is ready for productive use.

Where appropriate, the cost of property, plant and equipment includes site preparation costs, installation costs, and the cost of obtaining resource 

consents.

Provision is made for any impairment in the value of property, plant and equipment where the estimated recoverable amount is less than the 

carrying value.

The cost of improvements to leasehold property is capitalised and amortised over the estimated useful life of the improvements, or over the 

unexpired portion of the lease, whichever is shorter.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment other than freehold land, capital work in progress and 

exploration and evaluation assets, so as to write down the assets to their estimated residual value over their expected useful lives.

The	annual	depreciation	rates	are	as	follows:

     2010 2009

Office land and buildings      1-20% 1-20%

Generation	assets:

	 •	Hydro	and	co-generation	 	 	 	 	 	 1-15% 1-15%

	 •	Other	generation	 	 	 	 	 	 5-10% 5-10%

Meters      3-33% 3-33%

Computer hardware and tangible software      15-33% 15-33%

Other plant and equipment      4-33% 4-33%

Motor vehicles      20-33% 2 0-33%

Distinction between capital and revenue expenditure

Capital expenditure is defined as all expenditure on the purchase or creation of a new asset, and any expenditure that results in a significant 

improvement to the original functionality of an existing asset.

Revenue expenditure is defined as expenditure that restores an asset to its original operating capability and all expenditure incurred in maintaining 

and operating the business.

(c) Exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred by the Group is accounted for using the successful effort method.   

Exploration expenditure, which includes geological, geochemical and geophysical costs, is recognised in the income statement in the period incurred 

except where future benefits are expected to exceed such expenditure in which case it is included in capital work in progress.   

Land access rights for exploration activities are amortised over the life of the right.

Exploratory drilling costs are initially deferred and are subject to regular review to confirm the ability to develop or otherwise extract value from 

expenditure.  If an exploratory field is appraised as unsuccessful, such costs are charged to the income statement. 

(d) Rehabilitation costs

Estimations are made for the expected cost of environmental rehabilitation of commercial sites that require some level of reinstatement resulting 

from present operations.  Any liability is recognised when an exposure is identified and the rehabilitation costs can be reasonably estimated. Any 

changes in the estimated liability is accounted for in accordance with NZ IFRIC 1.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(e) Insurance

The Group’s property, plant and equipment is predominantly concentrated at power station locations which have the potential to sustain major 

losses through damage to plant and resultant consequential costs.

To minimise the financial impact of such exposures, the major portion of the assessed risk is transferred to insurance companies by taking 

out insurance policies with appropriate counterparties. Any uninsured loss is expensed to the income statement in the year in which the loss 

is incurred.

(f) Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisition is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer’s interest in 

the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 

any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of 

associates is included in investments in associates. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment.

Software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. 

These	costs	are	amortised	over	their	estimated	useful	lives	of	2010:	between	2.5		-	5	years	(2009:	between	2.5	-	5	years).	As	these	assets	are	

deemed to have a finite life, impairment testing will only be performed when there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.

Rights

Rights, including land access rights acquired to further the Group's development programme, are stated at cost less accumulated 

amortisation	and	any	accumulated	impairment	losses.	Rights,	which	have	a	finite	life,	are	amortised	over	the	life	of	the	rights	2010:	between	

3	and	11	years	(2009:	between	3	and	11	years).	Testing	for	impairment	will	only	arise	when	there	is	an	indication	that	the	asset	may	be	

impaired.

(g) Impairment

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.  Other assets that are subject 

to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 

recoverable. Evaluation and exploration assets are assessed for impairment when there is an indication that the carrying amount of the asset 

may exceed its recoverable amount. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 

amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 

at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent cash inflows (cash generating units).   

Non-financial assets, other than goodwill, that suffered an impairment are tested for possible reversal of the impairment whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the impairment may have been reversed.

(h) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis and includes expenditure 

incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing condition and location.

(i) Cash flow statement

The	following	are	the	definitions	of	the	terms	used	in	the	cash	flow	statement:

•	 Cash	includes	cash	on	hand	and	bank	current	accounts.

•	 	Investing	activities	are	those	activities	relating	to	the	acquisition,	holding	and	disposal	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	and	of	investments.	

Investments can include securities not falling within the definition of cash.

•	 	Financing	activities	are	those	activities	that	result	in	changes	in	the	size	and	composition	of	the	equity	structure	of	the	Group.		 

This includes both equity and debt not falling within the definition of cash.  Dividends paid in relation to the equity structure are  

included in financing activities.

•	 Operating	activities	include	all	transactions	and	other	events	that	are	not	investing	or	financing	activities.

The cash flow statement includes net cash flows from loan advances as the rollover of loans and deposits is covered by an arranged  

finance facility.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(j) Financial instruments

Financial instruments are recognised in the financial statements when the Group has become party to the contract. They include cash balances, 

receivables, payables, investments and loans. In addition members of the Group are party to financial instruments to meet future financing 

needs and to reduce exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and energy prices. These financial instruments include cross-

guarantees of related entities' guaranteed indebtedness, swaps, options, foreign currency forward exchange contracts and energy contracts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less that are 

readily converted to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Interest income on cash and cash equivalent balances is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method.

Receivables and payables

Receivables and payables are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 

(in the case of trade receivables) any provision for impairment (doubtful debts). A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established 

when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. Financial 

difficulties of the debtor, default payments or overdue debts are considered objective evidence of impairment.

Investments

The	Group	classifies	its	investments	in	the	following	categories:	financial	assets	held	at	fair	value	through	the	income	statement,	held	to	

maturity investments and available for sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. 

Management determines the initial classification of its investments upon acquisition.     

Realised and unrealised gains and losses on investments classified as financial assets at fair value through the income statement are included 

in the income statement in the period in which they arise. Investments classified as available for sale are held at fair value and any related 

unrealised gains and losses are recognised in equity until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at 

which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the income statement. Held to maturity investments are carried at amortised cost.

Loans

Loans are initially recorded at fair value net of transaction costs incurred. Loans are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference 

between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the loan using 

the effective interest method. Borrowing costs are expensed to the income statement unless they relate to qualifying assets in which case they are 

capitalised to capital work in progress.

Foreign exchange and interest rate derivatives

The Group enters into various financial instruments for the purpose of reducing its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange 

rates. These are classified as financial instruments at fair value through the income statement.   

Derivative contracts are classified as held for trading and are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and 

are subsequently re-measured to fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is recognised 

as	a	hedging	instrument,	and	if	so,	the	type	of	hedge.	The	Group	designates	certain	derivatives	as	either:	a)	hedges	of	the	fair	value	of	recognised	

assets and liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge); or b) hedges of highly probable forecast transactions or variable interest cash flows 

on recognised liabilities (cash flow hedge).

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with 

any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The 

gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. Ineffectiveness arises where the movement in 

the fair value of the derivative instrument does not perfectly offset the movement in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item. 

Amounts included in equity are reallocated to the income statement in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss. However, when 

the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in 

equity are transferred and included in the initial measurement of the asset or liability.

Any gains or losses on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the income statement. 
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Energy contracts

The Group has entered into a number of contracts to manage its exposure to price fluctuations on the electricity spot market. These contracts 

are in the form of power supply agreements, contracts for difference, and option based instruments. They are not undertaken for speculative 

purposes. These energy contracts establish the price at which future specified quantities of electricity are purchased, sold or otherwise 

exchanged. These contracts are classified as financial instruments at fair value through the income statement.  Energy contracts are a form of 

derivative and are accounted for on the same basis as other derivatives described above.

The fair value of energy contracts is based on the net present value of anticipated cash flows from each contract.

(k) Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recognised in the functional currency of the relevant operating unit.

Foreign currency transactions are translated to the functional currency using the spot rate on the transaction date. At balance date monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the closing rate. Exchange variations arising from these translations 

and the settlement of these items are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges. 

The assets and liabilities of entities whose functional currency is not the New Zealand dollar, are translated at the exchange rates ruling at 

balance date.  Revenue and expense items are translated at the spot rate at the transaction date or a rate approximating that rate.  Exchange 

differences are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve.

(l) Employee entitlements

A liability for employee entitlements is recognised for benefits earned by employees but not yet received at balance date. Where payment is 

expected to be within twelve months of balance date, the liability is the amount expected to be paid by the Group. Where payment is expected 

to be longer term the liability is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

assessments of the time value of money. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 

finance cost.

(m) Operating leases

Operating lease payments are representative of the pattern of benefits derived from the leased assets and accordingly are charged to the income 

statement in the periods in which they are incurred on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(n) Revenue

Revenue recognised in the income statement includes the amounts received and receivable for energy and related energy services supplied to 

customers	in	the	ordinary	course	of	business.		Revenue	is	stated	exclusive	of:

•	 distribution	costs	paid	to	lines	companies	as	collected	from	customers	on	their	behalf,	and

•	 goods	and	services	tax	collected	from	customers.

Revenue includes the value of units assessed as being recorded on meters as at balance date, but for which invoices have not yet been rendered.

(o) Income tax

The	income	tax	expense	charged	to	the	income	statement	includes	both	the	current	year’s	provision	and	the	income	tax	effect	of:

•	 taxable	temporary	differences,	except	those	arising	from	initial	recognition	of	goodwill;	and

•	 deductible	temporary	differences	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	they	will	be	utilised.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of the assets and liabilities and 

their carrying amounts in the NZ IFRS consolidated financial statements. A deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that there will be 

future taxable profit to utilise the temporary difference.

Temporary differences arising from transactions, other than business combinations, affecting neither accounting profit nor taxable profit on initial 

recognition are not recognised.

Deferred	tax	is	not	recognised	on	temporary	differences	associated	with	investments	in	subsidiaries	because:	

•	 the	parent	company	is	able	to	control	the	timing	of	the	reversal	of	the	differences;	and

•	 they	are	not	expected	to	reverse	in	the	foreseeable	future.

(p) Goods and Services Tax

The income statement and cash flow statement have been prepared so that all components are stated exclusive of GST. All items in the balance 

sheet are stated net of GST with the exception of receivables and payables which include GST invoiced.
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(q) Capital and reserves

Cash flow hedge reserve

The cash flow hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging  instruments related 

to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.

Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record the increments and decrements in the fair value of property, plant and equipment identified as being 

carried at valuation.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 

subsidiaries.

Available for sale investment reserve

The available for sale investment reserve records movements in the fair value of available for sale financial assets.

(r) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief 

operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as 

the Chief Executive.

(s) Related parties

The Group considers its related parties to be key management personnel, its associates, its joint venture partners, the Crown and other State Owned 

Enterprises.

Key management personnel are those people with responsibility and authority for planning directing and controlling the activities of the entity. Key 

management personnel for the Group are considered to be the Directors and Senior Management.

NOTE 2. UNDERLYING EARNINGS

Underlying earnings after tax is presented to enable stakeholders to make an assessment and comparison of underlying earnings after removing 

significant one-off items and the change in the fair value of financial instruments.

   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Net profit for the year    84,614  159,618  128,844  178,859 

Change in the fair value of financial instruments   (8,081) 47,155  (7,973) 47,155 

Change in the fair value of financial instruments of associate entities  17,534  0  0  0

Change in the fair value of financial instruments of jointly controlled entities  21,337  0  0  0

Impaired assets    31,373  46,940  8,908  11,794 

Gain on sale of Marsden generation assets   0  (20,426) 0  (20,426)

Adjustments before income tax expense    62,163  73,669  935  38,523 

Income tax expense on taxable adjustments   (10,002) (21,632) 1,966  (14,892)

Impact of deferred tax rate change through the income statement  (7,067) 0  (5,292) 0

Deferred tax impact of removal of building depreciation   9,846  0  6,000  0 

Adjustments after income tax expense    54,940  52,037  3,609  23,631

Underlying earnings after tax    139,554  211,655  132,453  202,490 

The gain on sale of the Marsden generation assets in 2009 was included in Other Revenue, a component of EBITDAF.

Tax has been applied on all taxable adjustments at 30%.
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NOTE 3. SEGMENT REPORTING

Identification of reportable segments

The operating segments are identified by management based on the nature of the products and services provided. Discrete financial information 

about each of these operating businesses is reported to the chief-operating decision maker on at least a monthly basis.

Operating segments are aggregated into reportable segments only if they share similar economic characteristics.

Types of products and services

Wholesale

The wholesale segment encompasses activity associated with the production of energy from all power stations, the purchase of energy related 

products and services, the sale of power to the retail segment, generation development activities together with activities such as risk and asset 

management. The wholesale segment is exposed to volatility in wholesale prices which may result in significant fluctuations in segmental results 

from year to year.

Retail

The retail segment encompasses activity associated with the purchase of power from the wholesale segment and the subsequent sale of energy 

and energy related services and products to customers. The retail segment is also exposed to fluctuation in wholesale prices relating to energy 

purchases, electricity sales at spot and the settlement of electricity price derivatives. The results of wholesale price volatility will have a partially 

offsetting impact between the wholesale and retail segments.

Other Segments

Other operating segments that are not considered to be reporting segments are grouped together in the "Other Segments" column. Activities include 

metering, upstream gas and other corporate support activities.

Accounting Policies and inter-segment transactions

The accounting policies used by the Group in reporting segments are the same as those contained in note 1 to the financial statements and in the 

prior period. The Chief Executive assesses the performance of the operating segments on a measure of EBITDAF. Segment EBITDAF represents 

profit earned by each segment exclusive of any allocation of central administration costs, share of profits of associates, change in fair value of 

financial instruments, depreciation and amortisation, impairment of assets, finance costs and income tax expense.

Transactions between segments are carried out on an arm’s length basis.

Segmental results
     Other 
   Wholesale Retail segments Total
   $000 $000 $000 $000

June 2010

Total segment revenue    855,065  720,601  37,482  1,613,148 

Inter-segment revenue    (476,361) 0  (32,212) (508,573)

Revenue from external customers    378,704  720,601  5,270  1,104,575 

     
Segment EBITDAF    229,848  126,163  (28,228) 327,783 
     
Depreciation and amortisation    99,415  2,928  (3,636) 98,707 
Impaired assets    10,027  1,421  19,925  31,373 
Additions to non-current assets excluding financial instruments  175,362  8,270  204,421  388,053 
     
Segment Assets    4,442,078  169,890  282,932  4,894,900 
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     Other 
   Wholesale Retail segments Total
   $000 $000 $000 $000

June  2009

Total segment revenue    868,751  648,751  51,220  1,568,722  

Inter-segment revenue    (422,973) 0  (25,858) (448,831)

Revenue from external customers    445,778  648,751  25,362  1,119,891 

Segment EBITDAF    314,477  129,874  1,070  445,421  

Depreciation and amortisation    87,929  276  16,742  104,947  

Impaired assets    32,550  0  12,680  45,230

Additions to non-current assets excluding financial instruments  245,710  1,704  41,828  289,242 

Segment Assets    4,006,654  163,935  217,475  4,388,064  

Reconciliation of segment revenue to the income statement     
     Group Group
     2010 2009
     $000 $000
     

Total segment revenue      1,613,148  1,568,722

Inter-segment sales elimination      (508,573) (448,831) 

Total revenue per the income statement     1,104,575  1,119,891 

Revenue from external customers by geographic locations is detailed below.  

Revenue is attributed to geographic locations based on the location of the customers.

New Zealand      1,104,575  1,099,465 

Other foreign countries      0  20,426 

      1,104,575  1,119,891 

Reconciliation of segment assets to total assets     
     Group Group
     2010 2009
     $000 $000

Segment assets      4,894,900  4,388,064 

Current tax assets       0  0 

Total assets      4,894,900  4,388,064  

The	analysis	of	the	location	of	non-current	assets	excluding	financial	instruments	is	as	follows:	 	 	 	

New Zealand      4,427,051  3,963,907  

Other foreign countries      152,040  17,600  

      4,579,091  3,981,507 
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NOTE 4. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

   Group Group Company Company

  Note 2010 2009 2010 2009

   $000 $000 $000 $000

Auditing the financial statements    330  335  275  254 

IFRS related advisory services    0  5  0  5  

Total auditor’s remuneration    330  340  275  259 

Donations    65  233  65  223 

Rental and operating lease costs    3,832  3,387  3,487  3,371 

Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment   56  (22,673) (58) (22,673)

Foreign currency exchange losses    1,796  123  1,125  123 

Interest charged    54,631  45,273  54,341  44,748 

Interest capitalised to capital work in progress   (20,237) (14,261) (20,237) (14,261)

Total interest expense    34,394  31,012  34,104  30,487 

Depreciation   11 107,581  97,812  76,978  79,562 

Amortisation of intangible assets   12 8,048  7,937  7,580  7,494 

Amortisation of fair value on transition and the release from  

cash flow hedge reserve relating to forecast transactions  

that are no longer expected to occur   24 (16,922) (802) (16,922) (802) 

Total depreciation and amortisation    98,707  104,947  67,636  86,254 

Impaired property, plant and equipment   11 (9,469) (1,710) (1,421) (1,710)

Impaired exploration and development expenditure  11 (16,396) (45,230) (1,979) (10,084)

Impaired investment in associate   15 (410) 0  (410) 0  

Impaired available for sale financial asset   (5,098) 0  (5,098) 0 

Total impaired assets    (31,373) (46,940) (8,908) (11,794)

NOTE 5. INCOME TAX

   Group Group Company Company

   2010 2009 2010 2009

   $000 $000 $000 $000

(i) Income tax expense
Profit before income tax    141,353   226,777   188,912   250,124  

Prima facie income tax expense at 30% on the profit before tax  (42,406) (68,033) (56,674) (75,037)
Increase/(decrease)	in	income	tax	due	to:

	 •	effect	of	tax	rate	change	on	deferred	tax	 	 	 7,067  0  5,292  0  

	 •	deferred	tax	impact	of	removal	of	building	tax	depreciation	 	 (9,846) 0  (6,000) 0

	 •	share	of	associate’s	tax	paid	earnings		 	 	 	 (3,511) 878  0  59 

	 •	share	of	jointly	controlled	entities	tax	paid	earnings		 	 	 (6,598) 0  0  0

	 •	capital	gain	 	 	  0  6,128  0  6,128 

	 •	capital	loss	 	 	 	 (2,246) (6,083) (2,246) (2,280) 

	 •	other	differences	 	 	 	 (704) (197) (162) (338)

Over/(under) provision in prior period   1,505  146  (278)  203 

Income tax expense attributable to profit from ordinary activities  (56,739) (67,159) (60,068) (71,265)

Represented by:

Current tax expense    (49,546) (90,061) (57,525) (90,494)

Deferred tax recognised in the income statement   (7,193) 22,902  (2,543) 19,229  

Total income tax expense    (56,739) (67,159) (60,068) (71,265)

(ii) Income tax reported in other comprehensive income

Tax on movements in asset revaluation reserve   (110,898) (73,281) (86,100) 0

Tax on movements in cash flow hedge reserve   26,786  (34,260) 24,856  (34,260)

Tax on movements in available for sale investment reserve   (929) 929  (929) 929

Income tax reported in other comprehensive income   (85,041) (106,612) (62,173) (33,331)
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NOTE 6. DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED

   Group Group Company Company

   2010 2009 2010 2009

   $000 $000 $000 $000

(i) Dividends declared and paid during the year
Final	dividend	for	2009:	21.14¢	(2008:	14.70¢)	 	 	 79,800  55,500  79,800  55,500 

Special	dividend	paid	in	2010:	39.73¢	(2009:	nil)	 	 	 150,000  0  150,000  0

Interim	dividend	for	2010:	14.89¢	(2009:	nil)	 	 	 56,200  0  56,200  0

    286,000  55,500  286,000  55,500 

(ii) Dividends proposed

Final	dividend	for	2010:	8.03¢	(2009:	21.14¢)	 	 	 30,300 79,800  30,300 79,800 

After the reporting date the final dividend was approved for payment by the Board of Directors. This amount has not been recognised as a liability as 

at 30 June 2010 but will be brought to account during the 2011 financial year.     

     Company Company

     2010 2009

     $000 $000

(iii) Imputation Credits

Balance at beginning of the year      235,483  201,085 

Imputation credits attached to dividends paid during the year    (137,271) (27,336)

Income tax payments made during the year     78,093  61,734

Balance at end of the year      176,305  235,483

At	balance	date	the	imputation	credits	available	to	the	shareholder	were:	

Through direct shareholding in the Company     176,249  235,427 

Through indirect interests in subsidiaries     56  56

      176,305  235,483 

NOTE 7. SHARE CAPITAL

The	share	capital	is	represented	by	377,561,000	(2009:	377,561,000)	ordinary	shares	authorised,	issued	and	fully	paid.	All	shares	have	equal	voting	

rights and share equally in dividends and any surplus on winding up. These shares do not have a par value.

NOTE 8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Bank balances    7,905  9,088  2,224  7,849

Short term deposits    0  47,735  0  47,735 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows  7,905  56,823  2,224  55,584 

Bank balances earn interest at floating rates based on the daily bank deposit rates.      

Short term deposits are made for varying periods between one day and three months, depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, 

and earn interest at the respective short term deposit rates. 

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents represent fair value.

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2010



54 Annual Report 2010 Mighty River Power Limited  

NOTE 9. RECEIVABLES

   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Trade receivables and accruals    171,730  274,628  159,558  186,677 

Allowance for impairment loss    (3,085) (2,769) (3,035) (2,744)

Net trade receivables and accruals    168,645  271,859  156,523  183,933  

Prepayments    5,990  4,866  5,980  4,863  

Related party receivables    0  0  652,733  458,897  

    174,635  276,725  815,236  647,693  

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. For terms and conditions of related party receivables refer to note 28. 

movements in the allowance for impairment loss were as follows:

     

Balance at beginning of the year    2,769  2,771  2,744  2,771 

Charge for the year    4,313  3,254  4,288  3,229  

Amounts written off    (3,997) (3,256) (3,997) (3,256)

Balance at end of the year    3,085  2,769  3,035  2,744 

Receivables past due but not considered impaired:

Less than one month past due    4,433  5,118  4,433  5,118 

Two to three months past due*    886  26  886  26 

Three to six months past due*    0  0  0  0 

Later than six months past due*    210  5  210  5 

    5,529  5,149  5,529  5,149  

*  Old overdue balances that are subject to approved payment plans, with payments being made as scheduled, are not considered to be impaired.

NOTE 10. INVENTORIES

   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Consumable stores    16,464  10,048  11,700  9,068  

Spare parts    3,762  4,251  3,762  4,251  

    20,226  14,299  15,462  13,319  

Inventories are held to service and repair operating plant.
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NOTE 11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Group
       Computer
  Hydro     hardware
   and co- Other Other  Office and  Capital
  generation generation plant and  land and tangible  work in
  assets at assets at equipment Meters buildings software Vehicles progress
  fair value fair value at cost at cost at fair value at cost at cost at cost Total
  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2008

Cost or valuation 2,980,060  78,856  23,973  65,834  7,676  21,247  1,815  397,539  3,577,000  

Accumulated depreciation 0  (17,636) (14,817) (29,703) (621) (14,588) (931) 0  (78,296)

Net book value 2,980,060  61,220  9,156  36,131  7,055  6,659  884  397,539  3,498,704  

Year ended 30 June 2009         

Opening net book value 2,980,060  61,220  9,156  36,131  7,055  6,659  884  397,539  3,498,704  

Additions, including transfers from  

capital work in progress 5,272  270,991  6,306  10,163  759  2,118  404  (32,926) 263,087  

Disposals (269) (371) (591) 0  0  (6) (129) 0  (1,366)

Revaluation 0  244,268  0  0  0  0  0  0  244,268  

Impaired assets 0  0  0  (1,710) 0  0  0  0  (1,710)

Impairment of exploration 

and development expenditure (100) 0  0  0  0  0  0  (45,130) (45,230)

Depreciation charge for the year (66,106) (18,724) (1,841) (7,253) (427) (3,138) (323) 0  (97,812)

Closing net book value 2,918,857  557,384  13,030  37,331  7,387  5,633  836  319,483  3,859,941  

Balance at 30 June 2009

Cost or valuation 2,985,113  581,110  28,693  74,232  8,390  19,083  1,784  319,483  4,017,888  

Accumulated depreciation (66,256) (23,726) (15,663) (36,901) (1,003) (13,450) (948) 0  (157,947)

Net book value 2,918,857  557,384  13,030  37,331  7,387  5,633  836  319,483  3,859,941  

Year ended 30 June 2010

Opening net book value 2,918,857  557,384  13,030  37,331  7,387  5,633  836  319,483  3,859,941  

Additions, including transfers  

from capital work in progress 7,422  303,152  243  18,694  25  3,842  163  (126,572) 206,969 

Increase in interest in jointly controlled assets  0  4,802  0  0  0  0  0  0  4,802

Disposals (697) (390) (617) 0  0  (9) (104) 0  (1,817)

Revaluation 287,000  85,048  0  0  (950) 0  0  0  371,098  

Impaired assets 0  (8,048) 0  (1,421) 0  0  0  0  (9,469)

Impairment of exploration and  

development expenditure 0  0  0  0  0  0  0  (16,396) (16,396)

Depreciation charge for the year (62,829) (30,653) (1,922) (8,793) (465) (2,710) (209) 0  (107,581)

Closing net book value 3,149,753  911,295  10,734  45,811  5,997  6,756  686  176,515  4,307,547 

Balance at 30 June 2010         

Cost or valuation 3,149,753  911,921  28,121  91,291  5,997  23,153  1,559  176,515  4,388,310  

Accumulated depreciation 0  (626) (17,387) (45,480) 0  (16,397) (873) 0  (80,763)

Net book value 3,149,753  911,295  10,734  45,811  5,997  6,756  686  176,515  4,307,547 

Exploration work in progress

The	Group	is	undertaking	a	gas	exploration	project.	Costs	of	$3.5	million	(2009:	$10.2	million	)	associated	with	this	project	are	included	within	capital	

work in progress and will remain until drilling is complete and the results evaluated. Costs that prove to be unsuccessful are expensed in full to the 

income statement as impaired exploration expenditure.

Impaired exploration and development expenditure

The impaired exploration and development expenditure of $16.4 million in the year to 30 June 2010 included $14.4 million in the gas exploration 

cash	generating	unit	(30	June	2009:	$12.6	million).

In 2009 Management performed a review of development projects within capital work in progress to identify whether any indication for impairment 

existed. At that time three projects were identified that were unlikely to proceed as they were no longer considered economic. An impairment charge 

was recognised as a result. A further impairment charge of $2.0 million has been recognised in 2010 due to a further reduction in development land 

value,	which	readjusts	the	asset	to	its	recoverable	value	which	is	based	on	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell	(2009:	$32.7	million).	
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Company
       Computer
  Hydro     hardware
   and co- Other Other  Office and  Capital
  generation generation plant and  land and tangible  work in
  assets at assets at equipment Meters buildings software Vehicles progress
  fair value fair value at cost at cost at fair value at cost at cost at cost Total
  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2008

Cost or valuation 2,979,760  3,493  22,889  65,834  7,676  21,232  1,793  49,058  3,151,735  

Accumulated depreciation 0  (1,665) (14,353) (29,703) (621) (14,573) (924) 0  (61,839)

Net book value 2,979,760  1,828  8,536  36,131  7,055  6,659  869  49,058  3,089,896  

Year ended 30 June 2009

Opening net book value 2,979,760  1,828  8,536  36,131  7,055  6,659  869 49,058  3,089,896

Additions, including transfers  

from capital work in progress 5,272  1,686  6,250  10,160  759  2,007  366  14,073  40,573   

Disposals (269) (371) (591) 0  0  (6) (91) 0  (1,328)

Impaired assets 0  0  0  (1,710)  0  0  0  0  (1,710)  

Impaired exploration and  

development expenditure 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (10,084) (10,084)

Depreciation charge for the year (66,106) (617) (1,734) (7,253) (427) (3,103) (322) 0  (79,562)

Closing net book value 2,918,657  2,526  12,461  37,328  7,387  5,557  822  53,047  3,037,785  

Balance at 30 June 2009

Cost or valuation 2,984,913  4,307  27,554  74,229  8,390  18,955  1,762  53,047  3,173,157 

Accumulated depreciation (66,256) (1,781) (15,093) (36,901) (1,003) (13,398) (940) 0  (135,372)

Net book value 2,918,657  2,526  12,461  37,328  7,387  5,557  822  53,047  3,037,785  

Year ended 30 June 2010         

Opening net book value 2,918,657  2,526  12,461  37,328  7,387  5,557  822  53,047  3,037,785  

Additions, including transfers from  

capital work in progress 7,422  73  199  18,690  25  3,710  163  31,608  61,890  

Acquired through amalgamation 200  0  0  0  0  0  (104) 0  96

Disposals (697) (334) (617) 0  0  (8) 0  0  (1,656)

Revaluation 287,000  0  0  0  (950) 0  0  0  286,050  

Impaired assets 0  0  0  (1,421) 0  0  0  0  (1,421)

Impairment of exploration 

and development expenditure 0  0  0  0  0  0  0  (1,979) (1,979)

Depreciation charge for the year (62,829) (235) (1,830) (8,793) (465) (2,618) (208) 0  (76,978)

Closing net book value 3,149,753  2,030  10,213  45,804  5,997  6,641  673  82,676  3,303,787  

Balance at 30 June 2010

Cost or valuation 3,149,753  2,656  26,939  91,283  5,997  22,896  1,536  82,676  3,383,736  

Accumulated depreciation 0  (626) (16,726) (45,479) 0  (16,255) (863) 0  (79,949)

Net book value 3,149,753  2,030  10,213  45,804  5,997  6,641  673  82,676  3,303,787  
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Assets carried at fair value

All hydro, co-generation and other generation assets shown at valuation were revalued using a net present value methodology by 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, an independent valuer as at 30 June 2010. As a consequence of the revaluation, accumulated depreciation on these assets 

was reset to nil. 

The key assumptions that are used in the valuation include the forecast of the future electricity price path, volumes, projected operational and capital 

expenditure, capacity and life assumptions and discount rate.

Revalued office land and buildings are stated at net market value as determined by Darroch Limited, an independent valuer, on 18 May 2010. As a 

consequence of the revaluation accumulated depreciation was reset to nil.

The	carrying	amount	of	revalued	assets	had	they	been	recognised	at	cost	are	as	follows:

      Group Group Company Company
      2010 2009 2010 2009
      $000 $000 $000 $000

Hydro and co-generation assets      1,121,910  1,144,933  1,121,910  1,144,733 

Other generation assets      598,168  310,109  2,025  2,248  

Office land and buildings      4,963  5,428  4,963  5,428 

NOTE 12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

    Group Group Group Group Company Company Company
    Intangible     Intangible
    software Rights Goodwill Total software Rights Total
    $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at 1 July 2008

Cost    54,200  12,517  0  66,717  54,175  9,765  63,940  

Accumulated amortisation   (33,636) (5,129) 0  (38,765) (33,612) (4,054) (37,666)

Net book value   20,564  7,388  0  27,952  20,563  5,711  26,274  

Year ended 30 June 2009

Opening net book value   20,564  7,388  0  27,952  20,563  5,711  26,274  

Additions   3,184  8,310  1,296  12,790  3,166  28  3,194  

Acquired through amalgamation   (2) 0  0  (2) (2) 0  (2) 

Amortisation for the year   (6,732) (1,205) 0  (7,937) (6,729) (765) (7,494)

Closing net book value   17,014  14,493  1,296  32,803  16,998  4,974  21,972  

Balance at 30 June 2009

Cost    57,320  20,827  1,296  79,443  57,278  9,793  67,071  

Accumulated amortisation   (40,306) (6,334) 0  (46,640) (40,280) (4,819) (45,099)

Net book value   17,014  14,493  1,296  32,803  16,998  4,974  21,972  

Year ended 30 June 2010

Opening net book value   17,014  14,493  1,296  32,803  16,998  4,974  21,972  

Additions   7,350  0  0  7,350  7,350  0  7,350 

Increase in interest in jointly  

controlled assets   0  50  0  50  0  0  0

Disposals   (15) (26) 0  (41) 0  (26) (26)

Amortisation for the year   (6,885) (1,163) 0  (8,048) (6,884) (696) (7,580)

Closing net book value   17,464  13,354  1,296  32,114  17,464  4,252  21,716  

Balance at 30 June 2010

Cost    64,643  20,839  1,296  86,778  64,619  9,755  74,374  

Accumulated amortisation   (47,179) (7,485) 0  (54,664) (47,154) (5,504) (52,658)

Net book value   17,464  13,354  1,296  32,114  17,465  4,251  21,716 
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All intangible assets except goodwill have been assessed as having a finite life. The costs of finite life intangible assets are amortised over the life of 

the assets on a straight line basis.

If an indication of impairment arises for finite life intangible assets, the recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment loss is recognised to the 

extent that the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount. To date no such impairment indication exists.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised but is subject 

to impairment testing on an annual basis or whenever there is an indication of impairment.

For the purposes of impairment testing, all goodwill is allocated to one cash generating unit which is not a separately reportable segment. The 

recoverable amount has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by 

management covering a five-year period. The pre-tax cash flow projections are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 12%. 

Key assumptions in the value in use calculation include gross margin and the discount rate. Gross margin has been based on past performance and 

management's expectations of market development. The discount rate reflects management's estimate of the time value of money and the risks 

specific to the cash generation unit that are not already reflected in the cash flows.

No impairment charge has been recognised against goodwill as a result of the value in use calculation.

NOTE 13. AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Shares - New Zealand listed    2,049  4,050  2,049  4,050  

Available for sale financial assets consist of investments in ordinary shares, they therefore have no fixed maturity date or coupon rates.  

The fair value has been determined by reference to published price quotations in an active market. An impairment has been recognised  

through the income statement due to the decline in share price, refer note 4.
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NOTE 14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

     Company Company
     2010 2009
     $000 $000

Shares in subsidiaries at cost      284,355  287,355  

Subsidiaries include:
   % Holding     Country of  Balance
Name of Entity  2010 2009  Principal Activity   Incorporation Date

Direct Subsidiaries      

Mighty River Power Geothermal Limited  100 100  Investment holding   New Zealand 30 June

Mighty River Power Gas Investments Limited 100 100  Investment holding   New Zealand 30 June

Mighty River Power (Waipa) Limited 0 100  Investment holding   New Zealand 30 June

Mercury Energy Limited 100 100  Non trading   New Zealand 30 June

ECNZ International Limited 100 100  Investment holding   New Zealand 30 June

Bosco Connect Limited 100 100  Retail of utilities   New Zealand 30 June

Indirect Subsidiaries - Domestic      

Rotokawa Geothermal Limited 100 100  Investment holding   New Zealand 30 June

Rotokawa Generation Limited 100 100  Electricity generation   New Zealand 30 June

Mangakino Geothermal Limited 0 100  Geothermal development  New Zealand 30 June

Kawerau Geothermal Limited 100 100  Geothermal development  New Zealand 30 June

Ngatamariki Geothermal Limited 100 100  Geothermal development  New Zealand 30 June

Waipa Generation Limited 0 100  Non trading   New Zealand 30 June

EZY Networks Limited 0 100  Non trading   New Zealand 30 June

Mighty Geothermal Power Limited 100 100  Investment holding   New Zealand 30 June

Mighty Geothermal Power International Limited 100 0  Investment holding   New Zealand 30 June

Special General Partner Limited 100 0  Investment holding   New Zealand 30 June

Indirect Subsidiaries - International

PT ECNZ Services Indonesia 100 100  Non trading                      Indonesia  31 December

Mighty River Power LLC 100 100  Investment holding   United States 31 December

GeoGlobal Partners 1 Limited Partnership 99.86 0  Investment holding   United Kingdom 30 June

GeoGlobal U.S. Holdings LLC 99.86 0  Investment holding   United States 31 December

GeoGlobal U.S. EnergySource LLC 99.86 0  Investment holding   United States 31 December

GeoGlobal Chile Holdings LLC 99.86 0  Investment holding   United States 31 December

GGE Peru Holdings LLC 99.86 0  Investment holding   United States 31 December

The Company recapitalised a number of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2010.      

Investments relating to Mighty River Power's international development programme will be made via GeoGlobal Energy LLC's recently created 

capital investment fund (GeoGlobal Partners 1 Limited Partnership). Mighty River Power, via its subsidiaries Mighty Geothermal Power International 

Limited and Special General Partner Limited, currently holds a 99.86% interest in this fund. It is anticipated that additional investors will be sought 

for the fund which will, over time, reduce Mighty River Power's interest.

The initial investment into GeoGlobal Energy LLC's capital investment fund related to the investment in EnergySource LLC (treated as an investment 

in a jointly controlled entity) relating to the construction of a 49.9MW geothermal station in Southern California.  

      

The	following	entities	were	amalgamated	with	Mighty	River	Power	Limited	as	at	30	June	2010:

Mangakino Geothermal Limited   Waipa Generation Limited

Mighty River Power (Waipa) Limited   EZY Networks Limited

All the above amalgamations were carried out by way of short form amalgamation under section 222 of the Companies Act 1993. Upon the 

amalgamation the amalgamated company succeeds to all the property, rights, powers, privileges, liabilities, and obligations of each of the 

amalgamating companies. The amalgamations have been accounted for using the purchase method. Settlement was effected via inter-company 

loans.

If the pooling of interest method had been used the Company comparatives would not have been materially different as the entities were  

non-operational.
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NOTE 15. INVESTMENT AND ADVANCES TO ASSOCIATES

   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at the beginning of the period   84,713  65,944  15,445  12,763 

Additions during the year    27,873  6,218  22,622  6,218  

Disposals during the year    0  (78) 0  (78)

Equity accounted earnings    (11,703) 2,928  0  196 

Equity accounted share of movement in reserves   19,865  11,053  0  0  

Repayment of advances during the year    (4,402) (2,807) (4,402) (2,807)

Accrued interest on advances    38  0  38  0

Exchange movements    (2,360) 1,455  (1,487) (847) 

Impaired investment in associate    (410) 0  (410) 0 

Balance at the end of the period    113,614  84,713  31,806  15,445  

Associates include:
     
 Interest Held     Country of
Name of entity 2010 2009 Principal activity   incorporation

TPC Holdings Limited 25% 25% Investing in Tuaropaki Power Company Limited New Zealand

Hot Water Innovations Limited 34.71% 34.71% Development of a hot water storage solution  New Zealand

GeoGlobal Energy LLC  29.23% 25% Geothermal development   United States

EnergyHedge Limited 20% 0% Operator EnergyHedge electricity hedge trading market New Zealand

Following the withdrawal of one of the founding members of GeoGlobal Energy LLC each member's interest was proportionately increased. The 

Group's interest was increased to 29.23%.

EnergyHedge Limited was incorporated on 31 July 2009 with Mighty River Power Limited being one of the five founding shareholders.

Aggregate summary financial information of associates, not adjusted for the percentage held by the Group

   Group Group
   2010 2009

   $000 $000

Total assets    577,352  504,998 

Total liabilities    424,779  343,907 

Total revenues    74,226  70,410 

Total (loss)/profit for the period    (43,545) 10,856 

The loss reconised for associate entitites includes the impact of the energy derivative fair value loss on the TPC Foundation hedge contract,  

a description of the contract can be found in note 24.

NOTE 16. INVESTMENT IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ASSETS

 Interest Held
Name of joint venture 2010 2009 Principal activity

 

Rotokawa  74.68% 50% Electricity generation

Nga Awa Purua  75% 75% Electricity generation

Rosedale / Greenmount  0.0% 77.5% Electricity generation

Tirohia  50% 50% Electricity generation

On 14th May 2010 the Group's interest in the Rosedale/Greenmount joint venture was sold. On the 31st July 2010 the Group's interest in Tirohia joint 

venture was also sold.

Following the commissioning of the expanded Rotokawa steamfield, which supports the newly commissioned Nga Awa Purua geothermal station, 

the Group's interest in the Rotokawa Joint Venture was increased to 74.68%.
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NOTE 17. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

 

Balance at the beginning of the period   0  0  0  0 

Additions during the year    134,020   0  0  0 

Equity accounted earnings    (21,992)  0  0  0 

Equity accounted share of movements in reserves   0  0  0  0 

Exchange movements    (102)  0  0  0 

Balance at the end of the period    111,926  0  0  0 

Jointly controlled entities include:
     
 Economic Interest Held    Country of
Name of entity 2010 2009 Principal activity     incorporation

Energy Source LLC 20% 0% Investment holding    United States

Hudson Ranch Holdings LLC 75% 0% Investment holding    United States

The Group's interest in the above jointly controlled entities is held by GeoGlobal U.S. EnergySource LLC.

Aggregate summary financial information of jointly controlled entities, not adjusted for the percentage held by the Goup

   Group Group
   2010 2009

   $000 $000

Total assets    173,188  0

Total liabilities    36,881  0 

Total revenues    309  0 

Total (loss)/profit for the period    (28,761) 0

The losses of jointly controlled entities have arisen due to fair market value movements on interest rate derivative contracts. These contracts have 

maturities between 2012 and 2027. The shorter dated contracts are being used to fix the interest rate on the development project financing while the 

longer dated contracts cover the post commissioning funding requirements. Hedge accounting has not been adopted for these contracts. 

NOTE 18. ADVANCES
   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Loan to joint venture partner    11,841  0  0  0 

For terms and conditions of related party receivables refer to note 28.     
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NOTE 19. PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

   Group Group Company Company

   2010 2009 2010 2009

   $000 $000 $000 $000

Trade payables and accruals    140,745   169,295  128,225  150,031 
Employee entitlements    5,308  4,826  5,251  4,809 
Sundry creditors    2,416  2,340  1,383  1,404 
    148,469  176,461  134,859  156,244 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 - 60 day terms.

NOTE 20. PROVISIONS

   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

 

Balance at the beginning of the period   2,058  1,582  0  0  

Provisions made during the year    366  288  0  0  

Provisions used during the year    0  0  0  0 

Provisions reversed during the year    0  0  0  0 

Provisions acquired on amalgamation    0  0  211  0 

Unwind of discount rate    249  188  0  0 

Balance at the end of the period    2,673   2,058   211  0 

Provisions have been recognised for the abandonment and subsequent restoration of areas from which geothermal resources have been extracted. 

The timing of expected cash out-flows required to settle the above provision is uncertain and will depend on the extent of the geothermal steam 

resource for the well and the field.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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NOTE 21. LOANS

  Borrowing Group Group Company Company
  Currency 2010 2009 2010 2009
  Denomination $000 $000 $000 $000

 

Bank loans (unsecured)   NZD 325,580  130,250  325,580  130,250  

Bank loans (unsecured)   USD 0  12,396  0  0  

Fixed Rate Bonds (unsecured)   NZD 302,671  199,334  302,671  199,334  

Floating Rate Bonds (unsecured)   NZD 350,507  300,555  350,507  300,555

    978,758  642,535  978,758  630,139  

Repayable as follows:

Within one year    0  42,456  0  30,060  

One to two years    175,221  0  175,221  0 

Two to five years    350,920  299,524  350,920  299,524  

Later than five years    452,617  300,555  452,617  300,555  

    978,758  642,535  978,758  630,139 

The NZD denominated bank loans represent $325 million drawings against $400 million of unsecured bank loan facilities, of which $175 million 

are repayable by 18 Sep 2011 and the remaining $150 million by 3 December 2012. The average interest rates for both facilities as at 30 June was 

3.48%. 

$75 million of a revolving bank facility that provides liquidity support is available but undrawn as of 30 June 2010. 

The unsecured and unsubordinated Fixed Rate Bonds consist of $200 million retail bonds with an interest rate of 8.36% expiring on 15 May 2013, 

$70 million wholesale bonds with an interest rate of 7.55% expiring on 12 October 2016, and $30 million wholesale bonds with an interest rate of 

8.21% expiring on 11 February 2020.

Unsecured and unsubordinated wholesale Floating Rate Bonds of $50 million mature on 12 October 2016. The average interest rate as at 30 June 

2010 was 3.5%.

The unsecured and unsubordinated credit wrapped Floating Rate Bonds of $300 million have a maturity of 7 September 2021, unless the Company 

exercises its early repayment option to redeem the Bonds from the 7th anniversary annually of the issue date.    

The Company has entered into a Master Trust Deed and Supplementary Trust Deeds for all its Fixed and Floating Rate Bonds with the New Zealand 

Guardian Trust Company Limited, acting as trustee for the holders of the Fixed and Floating Rate Bonds, in which the Company has agreed subject 

to certain exceptions, not to create or permit to exist a security interest over or affecting its assets to secure indebtedness, and to maintain certain 

financial covenants.

The Company has entered into a negative pledge deed in favour of its bank financiers in which the Company has agreed subject to certain 

exceptions, not to create or permit to exist a security interest over or affecting its assets to secure its indebtedness, and to maintain certain financial 

ratios in relation to the Company.

There have been no breaches of the terms in any of these deeds.
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NOTE 22. DEFERRED TAX

(i) Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
  Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities Net Net
  2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Group

Property, plant and equipment  0  0  (838,140) (776,760) (838,140) (776,760)

Financial instruments  68,457  48,980  (22,505) (17,749) 45,952  31,231 

Employee benefits and other provisions  1,498  1,157  0  0  1,498  1,157 

Other  1,307  1,081  (211) (633) 1,096  448  

    71,262  51,218  (860,856) (795,142) (789,594) (743,924)

Company

Property, plant and equipment  0  0  (721,721) (685,980) (721,721) (685,980)

Financial instruments  63,831  48,980  (19,639) (17,749) 44,192  31,231 

Employee benefits and other provisions  1,481  1,007  0  0  1,481  1,007 

Other  1,123  1,020  (211) (665) 912  355 

    66,435  51,007  (741,571) (704,394) (675,136) (653,387)

(ii) The movement in deferred tax

  Property,
  plant and  Financial Employee
  equipment instruments entitlements Other Total
  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Group      

Balance as at 1 July 2008   (718,140) 26,541  1,116  113  (690,370)

Charged/(credited) to the income statement  7,482  15,044  41  335  22,902 

Charged/(credited) to equity   (66,102) (10,354) 0  0  (76,456)

Balance as at 30 June 2009   (776,760) 31,231  1,157  448  (743,924)

      

Balance as at 1 July 2009   (776,760) 31,231  1,157  448  (743,924)

Charged/(credited) to the income statement  (12,417) (2,940) 357  739  (14,261)

Charged/(credited) to equity   (107,676) 20,436  0  0  (87,240)

Balance transferred to joint venture partner  547  0  0  0  547 

Change in tax rate recognised in the income statement  7,514  (339) (16) (91) 7,068  

Change in tax rate recognised in equity   50,652  (2,436) 0  0  48,216 

Balance as at 30 June 2010   (838,140) 45,952  1,498  1,096  (789,594)

Company

Balance as at 1 July 2008   (705,717) 26,541  960  76  (678,140)

Charged/(credited) to the income statement  3,859  15,044  47  279  19,229 

Charged/(credited) to equity   7,178  (10,354) 0  0  (3,176)

Balances transferred   8,700  0  0  0  8,700 

Balance as at 30 June 2009   (685,980) 31,231  1,007  355  (653,387)

Balance as at 1 July 2009   (685,980) 31,231 1,007 355 (653,387)

Charged/(credited) to the income statement  (5,861) (2,940) 340 626 (7,835)

Charged/(credited) to equity   (82,877) 18,539 0 0 (64,338)

Balances transferred   3,246 0 140 13 3,399

Change in tax rate recognised in the income statement  5,720 (339) (6) (83) 5,292

Change in tax rate recognised in equity   44,031 (2,298) 0 0 41,753

Balance as at 30 June 2010   (721,721) 44,193 1,481 911 (675,136)

In May 2010 the government passed a bill to reduce the headline company tax rate from 30% to 28%. This change will be effective from 1 July 2011. 

An adjustment has been made to deferred tax in relation to temporary differences that reverse after that date. 
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The government also removed tax deprecation deductions on buildings from the same date. As a result an adjustment to deferred tax has been 

made relating to office and other buildings. While it is management's view that powerhouse assets should not be captured, they accept that there 

is a potential risk that a portion of the asset may be considered by the Inland Revenue to be a building for tax purposes. The balance would more 

appropriately by identified as plant. Consequently, as a prudent measure, a deferred tax liability has also been recognised for a portion of the 

powerhouse assets.  Deferred tax has been increased by $9.8 million as a result of this tax bill. In the unlikely event that all powerhouse assets were 

deemed to be buildings by the Inland Revenue an additional deferred tax liability of $21.3 million would also need to be recognised.   

Property, plant and equipment is held on capital account for income tax purposes. Where assets are revalued, with no similar adjustment to the 

tax base, a taxable temporary difference is created that is recognised in deferred tax. The deferred tax liability on these revaluations is unlikely to 

crystallise under existing income tax legislation.

NOTE 23. FINANCIAL RISK mANAGEmENT  

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, cash and short term deposits, debt, available for sale investments and 

derivatives.

Exposure to price, credit, foreign exchange, liquidity and interest rate risks arises in the normal course of the Group's business. The Group's overall 

risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to proactively manage these risks with the aim of 

protecting shareholder wealth. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge these exposures. 

Risk management is carried out by a central Treasury function (Treasury) for interest rate and foreign exchange exposures. Risk management 

activities in respect of electricity exposures are undertaken by the Generation Group (Generation). Both Treasury and Generation operate under  

policies approved by the Board of Directors.      

Price Risk - Energy Contracts

The Group enters into energy contracts that establish a fixed price at which future specified quantities of electricity are purchased, sold or otherwise 

exchanged. The Group's exposure to spot electricity prices is limited by the Board approved Market and Credit Risk Policy.  

On maturity of the energy contracts, any difference between the contract price and the spot market price is settled between the parties. Settlement 

occurs irrespective of the amount of electricity actually supplied or consumed.  

At	balance	date,	the	principal	value	of	energy	contracts,	including	contracts	with	terms	of	up	to	15	years,	were:		 	 	

    

      Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Energy contracts    1,729,586  1,234,076  2,059,968  1,234,076 

       

Sensitivity analysis       

The following table summarises the impact of increases and decreases in the relevant electricity forward prices on the Group and Company's post 

tax profit for the year and on other components of equity. The sensitivity analysis is based on an assessment of the reasonably possible movements 

in forward price, with all other variables held constant.       

       

   Impact on post tax profit  Direct impact on equity
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Group       

Electricity forward price increased by plus/minus 10%   13,749  571  52,695  56,008 

       

Parent       

Electricity forward price increased by plus/minus 10%   13,749  571  34,055  56,008 

       

Credit Risk       

To the extent that the Group has a receivable from another party there is a credit risk in the event of non-performance by that counterparty. 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Group to credit risk principally consist of bank balances, receivables, investments and derivative 

financial instruments.        

       

The Group manages its exposure to credit risk under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Group performs credit evaluations on  

all electricity customers and normally requires a bond from customers who have yet to establish a suitable credit history. Customer bonds  

of	$1.6	million	are	held	in	a	separate	bank	account	(2009:	$1.5	million).	 	 	 	 	
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It is the Group's policy to only enter into derivative transactions with banks that it has signed an ISDA master agreement with, and which have 

a minimum long term Standard & Poor's (or Moody's equivalent) credit rating of A- or higher. The Group monitors the credit quality of the major 

counterparties to its derivative financial instruments and does not anticipate non-performance by them. 

With respect to energy contracts, the Group has potential credit risk exposure to the counterparty dependent on the spot market price at settlement, 

although it does not anticipate any non performance of any obligations which may exist on maturity of these contracts. Credit risk in relation to these 

counterparties is managed in accordance with the Market and Credit Risk Policy.    

The carrying amounts of financial assets recognised in the balance sheet best represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk at the 

reporting date without taking account of any collateral held by way of customer bonds.     

Included	in	receivables	are	the	following	balances:	 	 	 	 	 	 	

      Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Energy Clearing House Limited    15,464  34,014  15,464  34,014 

       

The Group does not have any other significant concentrations of credit risk.      

  

Foreign Exchange Risk       

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions denominated in a currency other than the Group's functional currency, New 

Zealand dollars (NZD). The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily US dollar, Japanese Yen, Pound Sterling, Euro and Australian dollar. 

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions (including the purchase of capital equipment and maintenance services), 

recognised assets and liabilities (including borrowings) and net investments in foreign operations.   

It is the Group's policy to enter into forward exchange contracts to support its capital expenditure programme. To do this foreign exchange contracts 

are taken out to hedge spot rate risk on highly probable forecast transactions where there is some uncertainty around timing. These contracts are 

rolled on an instalment basis until there is certainty around both the amount and timing of payments at which time the contracts are rolled into 

specific contracts hedging those cash flows.        

       

The hedged anticipated transactions denominated in foreign currency are expected to occur at various dates between one month and five years from 

balance date. Gains and losses in the cash flow hedge reserve on foreign currency forward exchange contracts as at 30 June 2010 will be released 

when the underlying anticipated transactions occur and will be recognised in the income statement or capitalised to the cost of the asset acquired.   

     

       

At	balance	date	the	principal	or	contract	amounts	of	foreign	currency	forward	exchange	contracts	are:	 	 	 	

       

      Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts   291,896  84,027  291,896  84,027 

       

The group has certain investments in foreign operations whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. Currency exposure 

arising from the net assets of foreign operations is currently unhedged but will be managed on a case by case basis through the use of derivative 

contracts or through borrowings denominated in the same currency. 

  

At	balance	date	the	Group	has	US	funds	of	US$1.2	million	(2009:	US$1.1	million),	Japanese	funds	of	¥0.1	million	(2009:	¥7.5	million),	Euro	funds	of	

€0.1	million	(2009:	€0.0	million),	Sterling	funds	of	£0.0	million	(2009:	£0.1	million)	and	Australian	funds	of	A$0.1	million	(2009:	A$0.1	million)	held	in	

foreign currency bank accounts that are not hedged.       
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Sensitivity analysis       

The following table summarises the impact on other components of equity of the New Zealand dollar weakening or strengthening against the 

currencies for which the Group has foreign exchange exposure. The sensitivity analysis is based on an assessment of the reasonably possible 

movements in foreign exchange rates over a one year period based on the average actual movements experienced over the prior ten years, with all 

other variables held constant. Post tax profits would not be materially different.

          

        Direct impact on equity 
         Group and Company
        2010 2009
      $000 $000

       

Currency	strengthens	by	7.5%	(2009:	10%)		 	 	 	  (13,882) (5,259)

Currency	weakens	by	15%	(2009:	10%)	 	 	 	 	 	 35,114  6,428 

       

Interest Rate Risk       

The group has exposure to interest rate risk to the extent that it borrows for fixed terms at floating interest rates. The Group manages its cost of 

borrowing by limiting the ratio of fixed to floating rate cover held. The Group uses interest rate swaps and interest rate options to manage this 

exposure.        

       

Financial instruments are held to protect a portion of future borrowings forecast to fund the capital expenditure programme, even though the 

underlying facility is not yet placed.       

       

At	balance	date	the	principal	or	contract	amounts	of	interest	rate	swaps	and	interest	rate	options	outstanding	(including	forward	starts)	are:	 	

      Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Interest rate swaps    2,640,400  2,440,400  2,640,400  2,440,400 

Interest rate options    100,000  100,000  100,000  100,000 

Forward rate agreements    175,000  675,000  175,000  675,000 

Sensitivity analysis       

The following table summarises the impact on post tax profit due to movements in interest rates. The sensitivity analysis is based on an assessment 

of the reasonably possible movement in the 10 year swap rate over a one year period based on actual movements over the last  ten years, with all 

other variables held constant. The movement in post tax profits are due to higher/lower interest costs from variable rate debt and cash balances 

combined with the result of fair value changes in interest rate swaps and options that are valid economic hedges but which do not qualify for hedge 

accounting under NZ IAS 39. There would be no effect on other components of equity.    

       
     Impact on post tax profit 
     Group and Company
        2010 2009
      $000 $000

Interest	rates	higher	by	100	bpts	(2009:	100	bpts)	 	 	 	 	 40,066  36,758 

Interest	rates	lower	by	50	bpts	(2009:	100	bpts)	 	 	 	 	 (21,415) (40,405)

       

Liquidity Risk       

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of various funding sources. The Group's 

ability to readily attract cost effective funding is largely driven by its credit rating.     

     

Liquidity risk is monitored by continuously forecasting cash flows, and matching these to funding facilities. Policy requires that prescribed headroom 

is available in undrawn facilities to cover unanticipated needs. In addition it is the Group's policy to ensure that not more than 25% of borrowings 

should mature in any 12 month period.       

       

Non derivative financial liabilities       

The following liquidity risk disclosures reflect all contractually fixed payoffs, repayments from recognised financial liabilities as of 30 June. The 

timing of cash flows for liabilities is based on the contractual terms of the underlying contract. However, where the counterparty has a choice of 

when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated to the earliest period in which the Group can be required to pay.   

     

Liquid non-derivative assets comprising cash and receivables are considered in the Group's overall liquidity risk. The Group ensures that sufficient 

liquid assets are available to meet all the required short term cash payments.
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  Less than 6 6 to 12 1 to 5 Later than 5 
  Months Months Years Years Total

  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Group June 2010   

Liquid financial assets       

Cash and cash equivalents 7,905 0  0 0 7,905 

Receivables 168,645 0  0 0 168,645 

   176,550 0  0 0 176,550 

Financial liabilities       

Payables and accruals (148,469) 0  0 0  (148,469)

Loans 0 0  (526,141) (452,617) (978,758)

   (148,469) 0  (526,141) (452,617) (1,127,227)

       

Net inflow/(outflow) 28,081  0  (526,141) (452,617) (950,677)

       

Company June 2010

Liquid financial assets       

Cash and cash equivalents 2,224  0  0  0  2,224 

Receivables 156,523  0  0  0  156,523 

   158,747  0  0  0  158,747 

Liabilities       

Payables and accruals (134,859) 0  0  0  (134,859)

Loans 0  0  (526,141) (452,617) (978,758)

   (134,859) 0  (526,141) (452,617) (1,113,617)

       

Net inflow/(outflow) 23,888  0  (526,141) (452,617) (954,870)

       

In addition to maintaining sufficient liquid assets to meet short term payments, at balance date, the Group has available undrawn facilities of $75 

million. 

Derivative financial liabilities       

The table below details the liquidity risk arising from derivative liabilities held by the Group at balance date. Net settled derivatives include interest 

rate derivatives and electricity price derivatives. Gross settled derivatives relate to foreign exchange derivatives that are used to hedge future 

purchase commitments. As mentioned previously foreign exchange derivatives are rolled on an instalment basis until the underlying transaction 

occurs. While the maturity of these derivatives are short term the underlying expenditure is forecast to occur over the next several years.  

     

       
  Less than 6 6 to 12 1 to 5 Later than 5 
  Months Months Years Years Total

  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Group June 2010
Derivative liabilities - net settled (1,414) (5,112)   (14,700) (241,550)  (262,776)
Derivative liabilities - gross settled       

 Inflows 235,408  25,230  0  0  260,638 

 Outflows (242,925) (30,777)   0  0  (273,702)

Net maturity (8,931) (10,659)   (14,700) (241,550)  (275,840)

       

Company June 2010  

Derivative liabilities - net settled (1,414) (5,694)   (15,942) (241,549)  (264,599)

Derivative liabilities - gross settled       

 Inflows 235,408  25,230  0  0  260,638 

 Outflows (242,925) (30,777)   0  0  (273,702)

Net maturity (8,931) (11,241)   (15,942) (241,549)  (277,663)
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Fair values       

The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial statements approximates their fair values except for the Fixed Rate 

Bonds, the fair value for which has been calculated at $317 million based on quoted market prices for each bond issue.   

     

The	Group	uses	various	methods	in	estimating	the	fair	value	of	a	financial	instrument.	The	methods	comprise:		 	 	

     

•	 Level	1	-	the	fair	value	is	calculated	using	quoted	prices	in	active	markets	 	 	 	 	 	

•	 Level	2	-		the	fair	value	is	estimated	using	inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	in	Level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability,	 

 either  directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices)      

•	 Level	3	-	the	fair	value	is	estimated	using	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data	 	 	

     

The fair value of the financial instruments as well as the methods used to estimate the fair value are summarised in the table below.  

  

       Valuation Valuation
    technique technique
    market non-market
   Quoted observable observable
   market price inputs inputs Total
   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Group June 2010

Financial assets   

Derivative instruments       

 Interest rate derivatives       0  18,133  0  18,133 

 Electricity price derivatives       0  0  93,990  93,990 

 Foreign exchange rate derivatives       0  920  0  920 

Available for sale investments       

 Listed investments       2,049  0  0  2,049 

        2,049  19,053  93,990  115,092 

Financial liabilities       

Derivative instruments       

 Interest rate derivatives       0  125,942  0  125,942 

 Electricity price derivatives       0  0  136,834  136,834 

 Foreign exchange rate derivatives       0  13,064  0  13,064 

        0  139,006  136,834  275,840 

Company June 2010  

Financial assets    

Derivative instruments       

 Interest rate derivatives       0  18,133  0  18,133 

 Electricity price derivatives       0  0  102,134  102,134 

 Foreign exchange rate derivatives       0  920  0  920 

Available for sale investments       

 Listed investments       2,049  0  0  2,049 

        2,049  19,053  102,134  123,236 

Financial liabilities       

Derivative instruments       

 Interest rate derivatives       0  125,942  0  125,942 

 Electricity price derivatives       0  0  138,657  138,657 

 Foreign exchange rate derivatives       0  13,064  0  13,064 

        0  139,006  138,657  277,663 

       

Quoted market price represents the fair value determined based on quoted prices on active markets as at the reporting date without any deduction 

for transaction costs. The fair value of the listed equity investments are based on quoted market prices.    

    

Financial instruments that use a valuation technique with only observable market inputs, or unobservable inputs that are not significant to the 

overall valuation, include interest rate derivatives and foreign exchange rate derivatives not traded on a recognised exchange.   

     

Financial instruments that use a valuation technique which include non-market observable date include electricity derivatives which are 

valued using a discounted cash flow methodology using a combination of energy hedge market prices for the first three years, combined with 

Management's internal view of forward prices for the remainder of the contracts. Management's internal view of forward prices is determined by 

a demand supply based fundamental model which takes account of current hydrological conditions, future inflows, an assessment of thermal fuel 

costs, anticipated demand and supply conditions and future committed generation capacity.    
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Where the fair value of a derivative is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows of the instrument there are two key 

variables being used; the forward price curve and the discount rate. The selection of the variables requires significant judgement, and therefore 

there is a range of reasonably possible assumptions in respect of these variables that could be used in estimating the fair values of these 

derivatives. Maximum use is made of observable market data when selecting variables and developing assumptions for the valuation technique.  

     

       

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements       

        Group Company
     2010 2010
     $000 $000

Opening balance      (40,145) (40,145)

New contracts      6,849  13,278 

Matured contracts      (1,600) (1,600)

Ineffectiveness of electricity derivative cash flow hedges recognised through the income statement  (123) (231)

Gains and losses       

 Through the income statement          70,027  70,027 

 Through other comprehensive income         (77,852) (77,852)

Closing balance          (42,844) (36,523)

    

Capital risk management objectives       

Management seeks to maintain a sustainable financial structure for the Group having regard to the risks from predicted short and medium-term 

economic, market and hydrological conditions along with estimated financial performance. Capital is managed to provide sufficient funds to 

undertake required asset reinvestment as well as to finance new generation development projects and other growth opportunities to increase 

shareholder value at a rate similar to comparable private sector companies.      

      

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, changes may be made to the amount paid as dividends to the shareholders, capital may be 

returned or injected or assets sold to reduce borrowings.        

     

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by 

total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (both current and non current) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as 

shareholders'	equity	plus	net	debt.	The	gearing	ratio	is	calculated	below:	 	 	 	 	 	

      

        Group Group
     2010 2009
     $000 $000

Loans      978,758  642,535 

Less cash and cash equivalents      (7,905) (56,823)

Net Debt      970,853  585,712 

Total Equity      2,688,970  2,621,600 

Total Capital      3,659,823  3,207,312 

       

Gearing Ratio     26.5% 18.3%

       

Under the negative pledge deed in favour of its bank financiers the Group must also, in addition to not exceeding its gearing ratio, exceed minimum 

interest cover ratios and minimum shareholders' equity.       

   

The	Group	also	seeks	to	maintain	its	current	credit	rating	and	monitors	its	position	against	the	following	ratios:	 	

       
     Group Group 
     2010 2009

Free funds from operations / net interest expense (x)    5.1  6.7 

Free funds from operations / average debt (%)    28.7% 41.0%
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NOTE 24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The	fair	values	of	derivative	financial	instruments	together	with	the	designation	of	their	hedging	relationship	are	summarised	below:

   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Current

Interest rate derivative assets    18,133  25,454  18,133  25,454 

Electricity price derivative assets    16,423  9,727  15,481  9,727  

Foreign exchange rate derivative assets   920  4,152  920  4,152 

    35,476  39,333  34,534  39,333 

       

Interest rate derivative liabilities    125,942  73,112  125,942  73,112 

Electricity price derivative liabilities    4,149  5,402  4,730  5,402  

Foreign exchange rate derivative liabilities   13,064  14,192  13,064  14,192 

    143,155  92,706  143,736  92,706 

Non-current

Electricity price derivative assets    77,567  19,377  86,653  19,377

    77,567  19,377  86,653  19,377 

Electricity price derivative liabilities    132,685  63,847  133,927  63,847

Foreign exchange rate derivative liabilities   0  3,617  0  3,617 

    132,685  67,464  133,927  67,464 

Interest rate derivatives, short term low value foreign exchange derivatives, and short term low value electricity price derivatives that are traded on 

the Energy Hedge Market, while economic hedges, are not designated as hedges under NZ IAS 39 but are treated as at fair value through profit and 

loss.  All other foreign exchange and electricity price derivatives (except the Tuaropaki Power Company Foundation Hedge) are designated as cash 

flow hedges under NZ IAS 39.

The Tuaropaki Power Company Foundation Hedge contract was originated in 1997 between the Tuaropaki Power Company and ECNZ. The contract 

was subsequently novated to Mighty River Power Limited. The contract had been suspended from September 2002 and was reinstated in January 

2010, after several re-suspensions. The contract has a complex settlement structure behaving like a revolving loan when spot prices are below the 

contract strike price, a contract for difference when prices are above the strike price and a loan balance is outstanding and a call option when the 

loan has been fully repaid and prices are above the strike price. The contract has been valued at the date of reinstatement at $64.9 million with fair 

value movements since that date of $5.2 million. Due to the complex nature of the contract, and the difficulty in demonstrating hedge effectiveness, 

the contract has not been designated as a hedge for accounting purposes and consequently these movements have all been recognised through the 

income statement.
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The	changes	in	fair	values	of	derivative	financial	instruments	recognised	in	the	income	statement	and	equity	are	summarised	below:

   Income Income 
   Statement Statement Equity Equity
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Group

Interest rate derivatives       (61,597) (50,824) 0  21 

Electricity price derivatives       70,027  1,971  (73,094) 41,481 

Foreign exchange rate derivatives       3  (32) (16,187) 72,703 

Income tax on changes in fair value taken to equity     0  0  26,786  (34,260) 

Total change in fair value of financial instruments     8,433  (48,885) (62,495) 79,945 

   Income Income 
   Statement Statement Equity Equity
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Company

Interest rate derivatives       (61,597) (50,824) 0  21

Electricity price derivatives       70,027  1,971 (66,665) 41,481

Foreign exchange rate derivatives       3  (32) (16,187) 72,703

Income tax on changes in fair value taken to equity     0  0  24,856  (34,260) 

Total change in fair value of financial instruments     8,433  (48,885) (57,996) 79,945  

movement in cash flow hedge reserve
   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Opening balance       2,696  (88,302) 3,464  (76,481)

The effective portion of cash flow hedges recognised in the reserve  (61,677) 138,934  (55,247) 138,934 

Amortisation of fair value on transition      (494) (802) (494) (802)

The amount transferred to operating expenses relating  

to forecast transactions that are no longer expected to occur   (16,428) 0  (16,428) 0 

The amount transferred to balance sheet      (10,682) (23,927) (10,682) (23,927)

Equity accounted share of associates' movement in reserves   (1,155) 11,053  0  0 

Tax effect of movements       26,786  (34,260) 24,856  (34,260) 

Deferred tax rate change adjustment       (2,436) 0  (2,298) 0 

Closing balance       (63,390) 2,696  (56,829) 3,464  

Ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges recognised in the income statement  (352) 1,730  (460) 1,730 

Other changes in fair value recognised through the income statement  8,433  (48,885) 8,433 (48,885)

Fair value movements recognised through the income statement  8,081  (47,155) 7,973 (47,155)
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NOTE 25.  RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Profit for the period      84,614  159,618  128,844  178,859

Items classified as investing/financing activities

•	Fixed,	intangible	and	investment	asset	charges	 	 	 	 (20,237) (14,261) (20,237) (14,261)

•	Loan	charges	 	 	 	 	 	 (1,446) (1,745) (1,446) (1,710)

•	Transfers	between	group	companies	and	related	parties	 	 	 0  0  8,414  8,444

Non-cash items

Depreciation and amortisation      98,707  104,947  67,636  86,254 

Net loss/(gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment    56  (22,673) (58) (22,673)

Change in the fair value of financial instruments    (8,081) 47,155  (7,973) 47,155 

Impaired assets      31,373  46,940  8,908  11,794 

Unwind of discount on long term provisions    249  188  0  0 

Share of earnings of associate companies     11,703  (2,928) 0  (196)

Share of earnings of jointly controlled entities    21,992  0  0  0 

Other non-cash items      5,261  2,410  5,066  2,672

Net cash provided by operating activities before 

change in assets and liabilities      224,191  319,651  189,154  296,338 

Change	in	assets	and	liabilities	during	the	period:

•	Decrease	in	trade	receivables	and	prepayments	 	 	 	 19,268  66,602  26,294  68,389

•	Increase	in	inventories	 	 	 	 	 	 (5,927) (7,778) (2,144) (6,798)

•	Decrease	in	trade	payables	and	accruals	 	 	 	 	 (16,156) (66,777) (21,795) (67,775) 

•	(Decrease)/increase	in	provision	for	tax	 	 	 	 	 (30,720) 58,448  (28,416) 57,564 

•	Increase/(decrease)	in	deferred	tax		 	 	 	 	 8,854  (53,041) 1,310  (58,067)

Net cash inflow from operating activities     199,510  317,105  164,403  289,651
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NOTE 26.  COMMITMENTS 

   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Capital commitments

Commitments for future capital expenditure are:

Within one year     73,656  115,067  18,476  43,927

One to two years    6,661  182  1,775  182 

Two to five years    6,679  552  6,679  552 

Later than five years     101  169  101  169

    87,097  115,970  27,031  44,830
  

Operating lease commitments

Future minimum lease payments under non cancellable operating leases are:

Within one year     3,993  4,092  3,984  4,083

One to two years     3,204  2,928  3,198  2,922 

Two to five years     7,991  8,237  7,972  8,124

 Later than five years     7,734  9,156  7,660  9,102 

    22,922  24,413  22,814  24,231

Other operating commitments

Commitments for other operating items are: 

Within one year     3,146  9,734  3,146  9,734 

One to two years     2,300  1,792  2,300  1,792 

Two to five years     1,590  2,150  1,590  2,150 

Later than five years     486  0  486  0

    7,522  13,676  7,522  13,676

The operating leases are of a rental nature and are on normal commercial terms and conditions. The majority of the lease commitments are for 

building accommodation, the leases for which have remaining terms of between 1 and 9 years and include an allowance for either annual, biennial 

or triennial reviews. The remainder relate to vehicles, plant and equipment.

NOTE 27. CONTINGENCIES

MIghty River Power Limited has entered into an agreement to provide US$15 million of additional equity for Hudson Ranch Power 1 LLC, a 100% 

owned subsidiary of Hudson Ranch 1 Holding LLC. The additional equity can only be called to support the completion of the Hudson Ranch Power 

development project where funds from other sources prove to be insufficient. If called, the Group will receive an additional equity interest and 

additional preferential returns from its jointly controlled entities.

The Group has no other material contingent assets or liabilities.
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NOTE 28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Ultimate shareholder

The ultimate shareholder of Mighty River Power Limited is the Crown. All transactions with the Crown and other State-Owned Enterprises are at 

arm's length and at normal market prices and on normal commercial terms.

Transactions with related parties

Significant	transactions	with	the	Crown	and	other	State-Owned	Enterprises	include	energy	contracts	totalling	$5.2	million	(2009:	$6.4	million),	

payments	to	the	Inland	Revenue	Department	for	Income	Tax,	PAYE,	GST	and	FBT	totalling	$123.3	million	(2009:	$92.2	million),	and	payments	for	ACC	

$1.0	million	(2009:	$0.8	million).

Notes 14, 15, 16 and 17 provide details of subsidiaries, associates, joint controlled assets and jointly controlled entities. All of these entities are 

related parties of the Company.

During	the	year	the	Company	entered	into	the	following	transactions	with	these	entities:

   Transaction Value  Balance Outstanding 
   For the year ended 30 June As at 30 June 
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

management fees and service agreements

 Subsidiaries    2,865  2,647  0  0 

 Associates    (5,793) 3,924  0  355 

 Jointly controlled assets    5,443  6,892  0  0

Energy contract settlements received (paid)

 Associates    (5,465) (5,637) (1,006) (112)

 Jointly controlled assets    (10,510) 0  (5,162) 0

Interest income (expense)

 Subsidiaries    340  744  0  0 

 Associates    36  42  0  0 

 Jointly controlled assets    1,171  1,575  0  0 

Energy Contracts, management and other services are made in arm's length transactions at normal market prices and on normal commercial 

terms.

Advances to subsidiaries are interest free and repayable on demand with the exception of Mighty River Power Geothermal Limited's advances 

to Rotokawa Geothermal Limited and Mighty River Power Limited's advances to Mighty Geothermal Power Limited, Mighty Geothermal Power 

International Limited and Special General Partner Limited which carry a floating market interest rate and are repayable on demand.

Advances to TPC Holdings Limited are interest free and repayable on demand subject to certain conditions being met. With the exception of one 

specific fixed term advance to GeoGlobal Energy LLC, which carries an interest rate of 8%, all loans to offshore geothermal associates are interest 

free and repayable on demand subject to certain conditions being met.

The long term loan to the Group's Rotokawa Joint Venture partner carries a floating interest rate. Repayments under the term loan are linked to the 

Geothermal Energy Supply Agreement.

No related party debts have been written off, forgiven, or any impairment charge booked.
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Key management personnel

Key management personnel compensation comprised:
   Group Group Company Company
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $000 $000 $000 $000

Directors fees    478  521  478  521

Salary and other short term benefits of the  

Chief Executive and Senior Management   4,086  3,208  4,086  3,208

    4,564  3,729  4,564  3,729 

Other transactions with key management personnel

Directors and employees of the Group deal with Mighty River Power Limited as electricity consumers on normal terms and conditions within the 

ordinary course of trading activities.

A number of key management personnel provide directorship services to other entities as part of their employment without receiving any additional 

remuneration. A number of these entities transacted with the Group in the reporting period. The terms and conditions of the transactions with key 

management personnel were conducted on an arm's length basis.

NOTE 29. EmISSION UNITS

The Group has several agreements with the Crown under the Projects to Reduce Emissions (PRE) Scheme. These agreements will result in the 

receipt of emission units upon verification of emission reductions generated. The first project has been completed but is subject to audit. To date no 

units have been allocated under these agreements and therefore there is no recognition of these emission rights in these financial statements.

The Group has entered into several forward purchase agreements to acquire emissions units to be used to meet its obligations under the emissions 

trading scheme. The cost of the acquisitions under these contracts will be recognised when the units are acquired.

To 30 June 2010 no emission units have been received or acquired.

NOTE 30.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There are no material events subsequent to balance date that would affect the fair presentation of these financial statements.
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     NZ IFRS NZ IFRS NZ IFRS NZ IFRS NFRS
  2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 

Income Statement           * 
Total revenue      1,104,575 1,119,891  1,178,553 814,860 1,009,436 
EBITDAF      327,788 447,131  304,639 315,465 304,006 
Depreciation and amortisation      (98,707) (104,947)  (86,525) (84,948) (83,543)
Change in fair value of financial instruments    8,081 (47,155)  (9,665) (61,056) 0
Net interest      (30,741) (24,240)  (20,860) (26,384) (34,646)
Equity accounted earnings of associate companies    (11,703) 2,928  2,331 2,999 4,156
Equity accounted earnings of jointly controlled entities    (21,992) 0  0 0 0
Impaired assets      (31,373) (46,940)  (28,059) (19,607) (17,532)
Non-recurring items      0 0  0 0 0
Profit before taxation   141,353 226,777 161,861 126,469 172,441
Income tax expense   (56,739) (67,159) (50,910) (29,546) (71,669)
Net profit for the period   84,614 159,618 110,951 96,923 100,772

Cash Flow Statement       
Operating cash flow      199,510 317,105  207,422 223,945 195,695
Investing cash flow      (296,425) (221,831) (345,300) (170,266) (144,641)
Financing cash flow      47,997 (72,500) 84,981 28,903 (70,103)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash      (48,918) 22,774  (52,897) 82,582 (19,049)
Opening cash      56,823 34,049  86,946 4,364 23,413
Closing cash      7,905 56,823  34,049 86,946 4,364

Performance Indicators        
Return on average shareholders’ equity   3.2% 6.5% 5.6% 5.8% 4.9%
Total equity / total assets   54.9% 59.7% 55.6% 58.5% 77.5%
Net debt / net debt plus equity   26.5% 18.3% 21.7% 20.1% 17.1%
FFO / interest expense   5.1x 6.7x 5.4x 8.8x 6.9x 
 
Balance Sheet        
Shareholders’ Equity       
Share capital   377,561 377,561 377,561 377,561 377,561
Reserves   2,311,250 2,244,039 1,880,089 1,332,932 1,720,126
Non controlling interest   159 0 0 0 0
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   2,688,970 2,621,600 2,257,650 1,710,493 2,097,687

Assets       
Current assets       
Cash and short term deposits     7,905 56,823 34,049 86,946 4,364
Derivative financial instruments     35,476 39,333 42,929 22,024 0
Other     194,861 291,024 314,338 186,608 184,634
Total current assets     238,242 387,180 391,316 295,578 188,998

Non-current assets       
Property, plant & equipment      4,307,547 3,859,941  3,498,704 2,527,051 2,478,979
Derivative financial instruments      77,567 19,377  74,113 31,085 0
Other      271,544 121,566  93,896 70,254 40,442
Total non-current assets      4,656,658 4,000,884  3,666,713 2,628,390 2,519,421
TOTAL ASSETS      4,894,900 4,388,064  4,058,029 2,923,968 2,708,419

Liabilities       
Current liabilities       
Loans     0 42,456 67,461 0 0
Derivative financial instruments     143,155 92,706 90,249 78,984 0
Other     161,738 219,835 245,190 133,594 145,186
Total current liabilities     304,893 354,997 402,900 212,578 145,186 
       
Non-current liabilities       
Loans     978,758 600,079 591,315 516,883 435,591
Derivative financial instruments     132,685 67,464 115,794 7,694 0
Other     789,594 743,924 690,370 476,320 29,955
Total non-current liabilities     1,901,037 1,411,467 1,397,479 1,000,897 465,546
TOTAL LIABILITIES     2,205,930 1,766,464 1,800,379 1,213,475 610,732

TOTAL NET ASSETS   2,688,970 2,621,600 2,257,650 1,710,493 2,097,687

* Information for years prior to the Group’s transition date of 1 July 2006 to NZ IFRS have been prepared under  existing NZ FRS and have not been   
 translated to NZ IFRS amounts.
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4.8 Corporate mission and values Yes AR 
Web
SCI

28

4.9 Board-level processes for identifying and  
managing risks and opportunities 

Yes AR 29

4.10 Processes for evaluating the Board’s own 
performance

Yes AR 28

4.11 How the precautionary approach is addressed No  

4.12 Externally developed economic, environmental,  
and social charters

No  

4.13 Memberships in associations No  

4.14 Stakeholder groups engaged by the organisation Yes AR
CR

 23–24

4.15 Identification and selection of stakeholders Yes CR  

4.16 Approaches to stakeholder engagement Yes AR
CR

23–24

4.17 Key topics and concerns raised through  
stakeholder engagement

No  

Management Approach & Performance Indicators

Economic

Disclosure on management Approach Yes CR  

EC1 Direct economic value generated and distributed Yes AR 
CR

 

EC2 Financial implications and other risks and 
opportunities due to climate change 

No  

EC3 Coverage of defined benefit plan obligations N/A  

EC4 Significant financial assistance received  
from government

Yes AR 28

EC5 Ratios of standard entry level wage  
cf to local minimum wage at significant  
operational locations

No  

EC6 Policy, practices, and proportion of spending  
on locally based suppliers

No  

EC7 Procedures and practice for local hiring No  

EC8 Infrastructure investments and services N/A  

EC9 Significant indirect economic impacts Yes CR  

EU6 Planning for long and short term  
availability and reliability

Yes AR
ER

 8–9, 12–17

EU7 Demand side management programs No  

EU8 Research and development for reliable  
and affordable electricity

Yes ER
CR

 

EU9 Nuclear plant decommissioning N/A  

EU10 Planned capacity vs. projected demand over  
long-term, by energy source

No  

EU11 MW capacity saved through demand side 
management programs

No  

EU12 Transmission and distribution efficiency N/A

Environmental  

Disclosure on management Approach Yes AR
ER

21–23

EN1 Materials used by weight or volume Yes ER  

EN2 Recycled input materials Yes ER

EN3 Direct energy consumption by primary  
energy source 

Yes ER  

EN4 Indirect energy consumption by primary  
energy source

Yes ER  

EN5 Energy saved due to conservation and efficiency 
improvements  

AR
ER

14

EN6 Initiatives to provide energy-efficient or renewable 
products and services

Yes AR
ER

10

EN8 Total water withdrawal by source Yes ER  

EN9 Water sources affected by withdrawal of water Yes ER

Index Status Pub Page

Strategy & Profile

1.1 Statement by the CE Yes AR
ER
CR

6–9

1.2 Description of key impacts, risks, and opportunities Partial ER 
CR

 

Organisational Profile  

2.1 Name of the organisation Yes AR Cover

2.2 Primary brands, products, and/or services Yes AR 12–20

2.3 Operational structure of the organisation Yes Web  

2.4 Location of organisation’s headquarters Yes AR Cover

2.5 Countries in which the company operates Yes AR 12–20

2.6 Nature of ownership and legal form Yes AR 28

2.7 Markets served Yes AR 12–20

2.8 Scale of the reporting organisation Yes AR

2.9 Significant	changes	in	size,	structure,	or	ownership	 Yes AR 
WEB

6–7

2.11 Awards received in the reporting period Yes AR 
CR

9, 10, 14, 20

EU1 Installed capacity (MW) by energy source Yes Web

EU2 Net energy output broken down by primary  
energy source and regulatory regime

Yes AR 15

EU3 Number of residential, industrial and  
commercial customer accounts

Partial AR 6

EU4 Length of transmission and distribution  
lines by voltage

No

EU5 Allocation of CO2 emissions allowances  
or equivalent

No

Report Parameters 

3.1 Reporting period Yes AR 80

3.2 Date of most recent previous report (if any) No   

3.3 Reporting cycle No   

3.4 Contact point for questions regarding the report Yes AR 5

3.5 Process for defining report content Yes AR 80

3.6 Boundary of the report Yes AR 80

3.7 Specific limitations on the scope or boundary  
of the report

Yes AR 80

3.8 Basis for reporting on joint ventures,  
subsidiaries, leased facilities, outsourced  
operations, and other entities 

Yes AR 80

3.9 Data measurement techniques and the  
basis of calculations  

Yes AR 80

3.1 Explanation of the nature and effect of any  
re-statement  

N/A  

3.11 Significant scope, boundary, or measurement 
changes from previous reporting period 

N/A  

GRI Content Index  

3.12 Table identifying the location of the Standard 
Disclosures in the report

Yes AR 78–79

3.13 Assurance No  

Governance  

4.1 Governance	structure	of	the	organization	 Yes AR 28–29

4.2 Indicate whether the Chair of the Board is  
also an executive officer 

Yes AR 28

4.3 Independence of the Executive Board Yes AR 28-29

4.4 Mechanisms to provide recommendations  
to the Executive Board

No  

4.5 Linkage	between	organization’s	performance	 
and executive compensation 

No  

4.6 Avoiding conflicts of interest Yes AR 29

4.7 Processes to determine qualifications and  
expertise of the members of the Executive Board 

N/A

Global Reporting Initiative
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EN10 % and volume of water recycled and reused Yes ER

EN11 Location	and	size	of	land	owned,	leased,	managed	
in, or adjacent to, protected areas and areas of high 
biodiversity value outside protected areas

Yes ER

EN12 Impacts on biodiversity Yes ER  

EN13 Habitats protected or restored Yes ER
CR

 

EN16 Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas  
emissions by weight 

Yes AR
ER

23

EN17 Other relevant indirect greenhouse gas  
emissions by weight

Partial AR
ER

23

EN18 Initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions  
and reductions achieved

Partial ER  

EN19 Emissions	from	ozone-depleting	substances	 N/A

EN20 NOx, SOx and other significant air emissions No  

EN21 Total water discharge by quality and destination Yes ER

EN22 Waste volume by type and disposal method Yes ER  

EN23 Total number and volume of significant spills Yes ER  

EN26 Initiatives to mitigate environmental impacts of 
products and services 

Yes ER  

EN27 % of products sold and their packaging materials 
that are reclaimed

N/A

EN28 Fines for non-compliance with environmental 
regulations 

Yes AR
ER

32

Labour Practices and Decent Work

Disclosure on management Approach Yes Web

LA1 Total work force by employment type, employment 
contract, and region 

Yes AR 21

LA2 Total number and rate of employee turnover by  
age group, gender, and region

Partial AR 21

LA4 Percentage of employees covered by collective 
bargaining agreements

No   

LA5 Minimum notice periods for operational changes No  

LA7 Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, 
absenteeism, and number of fatalities by region

Yes AR 21

LA8 Programs to assist work force members, their 
families, or community members regarding  
serious diseases

No

LA10 Average training hours per year per employee No  

LA12 Percentage of employees receiving regular 
performance reviews 

No   

LA13 Composition of governance bodies and breakdown  
of employees per category 

No   

LA14 Ratio basic salary of men to women No

EU15 Percentage of employees eligible to retire in the 
next 5 and 10 years, broken down by job category 
and region                    

No

EU16 Health & safety policices / requirements for 
employees, contractors and subcontractors                                     

No

EU17 Days worked by contractor/subcontractor 
employees involved in construction, operation & 
maintenance activities                             

No

EU18 % of contractors that have udergone health  
& safety training      

No

Human Rights

Disclosure on management Approach N/A

HR1 Investment agreements that include human rights 
clauses

N/A

HR2 Significant suppliers and contractors who  
have undergone human rights screening

No

HR4 Total number of incidents of discrimination  
and actions taken

No

HR5 Freedom of association and collective bargaining N/A

HR6 Child labour N/A

HR7 Forced and compulsory labour N/A

Society

Disclosure on management Approach Yes AR
CR

21–24

SO1 Programmes to assess and manage impacts on 
communities (entering, operating and exiting)

Partial AR
CR

23–24

SO2 Analysis for risks related to corruption N/A

SO3 Employee anti-corruption training N/A

SO4 Responses to anti-corruption incidents N/A

SO5 Public policy positions Yes Web

SO6 Total value of contributions to political parties Yes AR 28

SO8 Value of significant fines and total number of  
non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance

No  

EU19 Decision making processes with stakeholders  
and outcomes of engagement

No   

EU20 Approach to managing the impacts of  
involuntary displacement

N/A

EU20 Disaster/ emergency management planning  
and training

Yes AR 22

EU22 Number of people displaced by new/expanded 
generation projects

N/A

Product Responsibility

Disclosure on management Approach No  

PR1 Life cycle stages in which H&S impacts of  
services assessed

No

PR2 Non-compliance with regulation and codes 
concerning H&S of products and services

No

PR3 Service information requirements Yes ER
CR
Web

 

PR4 Non-compliance with regulation and codes 
concerning service information

No

PR5 Customer satisfaction practices Yes CR

PR6 Programmes for adherence to laws, standards, 
codes related to marketing comms

No

PR7 Non-compliance with regulation and codes 
concerning marketing comms

No

PR8 Total number of substantiated complaints  
regarding breaches of customer privacy

No

PR9 Fines for non-compliance concerning the use  
of products and services

No

EU23 Programmes to improve/maintain access to 
electricity

Yes AR
CR

18

EU24 Practices to address language, cultural, low  
literacy and disability related barriers to accessing 
and safely using 

Yes CR 

EU25 Injuries/fatalities involving company assets No

EU26 % of population unserved in licensed  
distribution areas

N/A

EU27 Number of residential disconnections for non-
payment, by duration

Yes CR  

EU28 Power outage frequency N/A

EU29 Average outage duration N/A

EU30 Average plant availability factor by energy source Partial AR 32 

Key
AR Annual Report
ER Environmental Review
CR Community Review
Web www.mightyriver.co.nz
SCI Statement of Corporate Intent
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Global Reporting Initiative
This report is aligned with the  
Global Reporting Initiative G3/ 
Electric Utility Sector Sustainability 
Reporting Guidelines, October 2006.  
The index on page 78-79 outlines our 
assessment. For more information  
on the indicators and guidelines  
visit www.globalreporting.org

Scope
This annual report covers Mighty  
River Power’s financial year from  
1 July 2009 to 30 June 2010. This is  
an integrated report which covers  
our annual financial performance  
as well as economic, social and 
environmental issues of importance  
to our stakeholders. 

Wholly owned businesses  
Mercury Energy. Bosco and Metrix are  
included in the scope of this report. 
Joint ventures or investments where 
we are the operator, such as Mokai  
and Rotokawa, are included for the 
purposes of sustainability reporting. 
Outside the scope of this report  
are outsourced construction  
and exploration activities and  
a variety of service contractors. 

Content
This report focuses mainly on the 
corporate responsibility issues that  
are of greatest importance to our 
stakeholders and that have a major 
influence on our business success.  
We have made every effort to produce  
a concise and engaging document.

Data Collection and Validation 
Mighty River Power uses in-house 
reporting systems to collect the  
data reported. Much data is provided via 
a formal Environmental Management 
System; other data is collected from 
individual business units. All data is 
checked and verified by the appropriate 
Executive Team Member.

About this Report 
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Shareholders 
The Minister for State Owned Enterprises (Hon Simon Power) 

and Minister of Finance (Hon Bill English).

Company Credit Rating (as at 30 June 2010)

Standard & Poor’s Short-term: A-2
Long term: BBB+
Outlook: Negative 

Company Secretary
Tony Nagel, LLB, MComLaw (Hons)

Registered Office
Level 14, 23-29 Albert Street, Auckland

Phone +64 9 308 8200

Fax  +64 9 308 8209

Email  enquiries@mightyriver.co.nz

Web  www.mightyriver.co.nz 

Auditor 
The Auditor-General pursuant to section 14 of the Public Audit 

Act 2001. Brent Penrose of Ernst & Young was appointed to 

perform the audit on behalf of the Auditor-General. 

Solicitors 
Chapman Tripp

Bell Gully

Bankers
ANZ National Bank

ASB Bank

Kiwibank

Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi

Bank of New Zealand 

HSBC

Directory



www.mightyriver.co.nz

Mighty River Power 
Level 14, 23-29 Albert Street 
Auckland 1010, PO Box 90 399  
Auckland, New Zealand 
PHONE +64 9 308 8200 
FAX +64 9 308 8209
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This paper is an environmentally 
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farmed trees under the environmental 
mangement system ISO 14001. Production 
waste is recycled (paper, plates and plastic 
wraps), whilst waste chemicals are removed 
by an eco-friendly, certified chemical waste 
disposal contractor.
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